Strategic Maintenance Decision Making using Real Options

by

Priyanka Arora

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Engineering Management

Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Alberta

© Priyanka Arora, 2022

Abstract

Maintenance decisions impact company's costs and profits in various ways. These decisions can be incurred as a part of everyday repairs or heavy replacements or as an investment in future asset or technology. Large corporations with physical assets have maintenance practices to ensure proper operations and to minimize costs. With innovation and development, it is possible to improve the maintenance practices to implement a more effective future technology. These changes may require significant investment decisions, and therefore, it becomes critical for decision-makers to use the best available information with respect to market conditions and potential benefits of every future option under consideration. In this study, condition-based maintenance practice is analyzed in different scenarios, both qualitatively and quantitatively. A strategic maintenance decision for future investment is evaluated using real options approach. The proposed framework is then explored for the airline and trucking industries.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Michael Lipsett, for providing me with the opportunity to work with him and complete a thesis-based master's in engineering management. I am grateful for his support and understanding from day one. I am thankful for his guidance and continuous encouragement in all the hard times. I would especially like to thank him for being patient with my progress during the pandemic. He was of continuous support, and this research could not have been completed without him.

I would also like to take this opportunity to acknowledge all the friends I made in Edmonton and back home. Thank you for always being there and for being my biggest cheerleaders.

A special acknowledgment goes to my partner for his incredible patience and encouraging conversations. I couldn't have made it this far without your support.

Finally, but most importantly, I would like to thank my grandparents, my dad, my mom, and my brother for their unconditional love and support.

Table Of Contents

| ABSTRA | CTII |
|---------|---|
| ACKNOW | VLEDGEMENTS III |
| TABLE O | F CONTENTSIV |
| LIST OF | TABLES VII |
| LIST OF | FIGURESVIII |
| CHAPTE | R 1 INTRODUCTION1 |
| 1.1 | Problem Setting and Thesis Motivation1 |
| 1.2 | Objective of the Thesis4 |
| 1.3 | Structure of the Thesis |
| CHAPTE | R 2 LITERATURE REVIEW7 |
| 2.1 | Decision-Making- Importance and Concepts7 |
| 2.2 | Multi-Criteria Decision Making |
| 2.3 | Risk |
| 2.4 | Maintenance 13 |
| 2.4.1 | Reactive Maintenance13 |
| 2.4.2 | Preventive Maintenance14 |
| 2.4.3 | Shutdown Maintenance14 |
| 2.4.4 | Condition-based maintenance |
| 2.4.5 | Reliability Centered Maintenance |
| 2.4.6 | Contract Maintenance 20 |
| 2.4.7 | Risk-based maintenance |

| 2.5 | Financial Valuation Options Overview |
|---|--|
| 2.5.1 | Discounted Cash Flow and Net Present Value Analysis22 |
| 2.5.2 | Monte Carlo Simulation23 |
| 2.5.3 | Black Scholes Model24 |
| 2.5.4 | Binomial Model25 |
| 2.6 | Real Options27 |
| 2.7 | Types of Real Options |
| 2.8 | Discussion |
| СНАРТЕ | R 3 FRAMEWORK OF THE ANALYSIS |
| 3.1 | Major Steps of Real Options Analysis |
| 3.2 | Methodology of the Study |
| 3.3 | Phase 1 |
| 3.4 | Phase 2 |
| | |
| CHAPTE | R 4 CONDITION-BASED MAINTENANCE STRATEGY DECISION MAKING USING REAL |
| CHAPTE OPTION | |
| | |
| OPTION | S 40 |
| OPTIONS | S 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks41 |
| OPTION3 4.1 4.2 | 5 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |
| OPTION3 4.1 4.2 4.3 | S 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |
| OPTION3 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 | S 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |
| OPTIONS 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 | S 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |
| OPTION3 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 | S40Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks41Airline Maintenance43Commercial Motor Vehicle Maintenance45Scenario Analysis47Scenario 148Scenario 249 |
| OPTIONS 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 | S40Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |
| OPTIONS 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 | S 40 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks |

| 4.12 | Real Options Analysis: Deferral | 61 |
|--------|--|-----|
| 4.13 | TFI International Inc. | .68 |
| 4.14 | Base Case DCF | .70 |
| 4.15 | Real Options Analysis: Deferral | .76 |
| 4.16 | Discussion of Real Options for CBM Strategy and Possible Limitations | .82 |
| 4.17 | Limitations of the Work | .83 |
| CHAPTE | R 5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK | .84 |
| 5.1 | Conclusions | .84 |
| 5.2 | Recommendations for Future Work | .86 |
| REFERE | NCES | 88 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Base Case DCF of WestJet Airlines | 54 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Sensitivity Analysis of WestJet Airlines | 56 |
| Table 3: Real Option Valuation of WestJet Airlines | 65 |
| Table 4: Base Case DCF of TFI International | 71 |
| Table 5: Sensitivity Analysis of TFI International | 73 |
| Table 6: Real Option Valuation of TFI International | 79 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Different Kinds of Risks | 42 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2: Tornado Diagram Range of NPV Results of WestJet Airlines | 57 |
| Figure 3: Real Options Valuation of WestJet Airlines | 66 |
| Figure 4: Back Calculation of Real Options of WestJet Airline | 67 |
| Figure 5: Tornado Diagram Range of NPV Results of TFI International | 74 |
| Figure 6: Real Options Valuation of TFI International | 80 |
| Figure 7: Back Calculation of Real Options of TFI International | .81 |

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Problem Setting and Thesis Motivation

There is a scope of enhancement for the tools and frameworks in industry that can help reduce risks and improve decision outcomes of potential future technology projects. It is necessary for decision-makers to evaluate the benefits and the challenges before investing in any future opportunity. However, at early development stages, it becomes difficult to have evidence for the success of the project (Mattar, 2017). Therefore, there is a possibility that technological development may have some risks that should be evaluated to define the worth of the opportunity. Other factors such as initial commitments in a project, resource allocations or market demand can also change at any stage of development and innovation. When such situations occur, flexibility to revisit and reassess the project or investment can help decision-makers to reduce risks and expenses for long-term or short-term goals (Kang et al., 2017). The motivation of this work is to help managers improve their decision-making framework to understand critical risks and evaluate the costs and benefits of a project before the investment, and to provide flexibility to make changes during the technology project with any new information if that becomes available.

Companies try to have no disturbance in the operation of their systems and environment and maintain a continuous flow of everyday work when they are on the path of exploring and evaluating the potential future opportunity (in an ideal condition); however, they do bear loss of production sometimes (Lipsett, 2021).

Generally, industries have guidelines and streamline processes to deal with possible challenges for everyday functioning. For future decision-making, companies prefer to explore areas where there is an opportunity to grow, generate more profit, or reduce their costs. Areas such as Investing in technological development or launch of a new product are some examples where generally traditional approaches such as discounted cash flow and net present values are applied. A strategic decision for any future opportunities also considers the risks and costs of the presentday performance of the company. One of such fields in industry is maintenance.

In various industries, maintenance practices have their predesigned set of maintenance checks. For example, maintenance of railroads is done by preventive maintenance scheduling where one of their routines (spot) maintenance practices (Budai et al., 2006) is inspection of switch, level crossing, overhead wire, and other small repairs, which are performed few times a year. A timely maintenance check is very essential for some systems as it helps in the reduction of premature replacement costs and deterioration of a system and its parts (Vineyard et al., 2000). Therefore, many large corporations have fixed regulated maintenance checks to avoid unnecessary costs. Regulated maintenance checks help companies to avoid system downtime and make the system available for its maximum use for operation. An uninterrupted, timely repaired and a proper functioning system will contribute to low operating and maintenance costs and high production value. Maintenance strategies can be based on various factors such as the type of equipment, nature of failure, criticality, cost of equipment, nature of business, operating conditions, environment, market, etc. Preventive, breakdown, predictive, shut down, condition-based, contract and risk-based maintenance are some of the methods used in different industries. These maintenance practices are discussed in detail in the literature review.

Companies generate profit when their systems are available for production/use. An appropriate maintenance strategy ensures the optimum performance and maximum availability of the equipment for operations. Earlier, maintenance practices were only limited to fixing the system quickly (Wisdom et al., 1992). However, over the years companies have evolved to understand the impact of maintenance strategy and its costs on the overall operating costs of the company and lost profit associated with opportunity cost of lost production. Maintenance management is not

only a technological approach but also has a deeper relationship with the business model of the industry <u>(Jantunen et al., 2019)</u>. The cost of maintenance, the downtime required for maintenance, labor hours, cost of repairs and replacements also have a major effect on the operating costs of a company. Hence, maintenance management has become a combination of strategic and operational decisions <u>(Márquez et al., 2015)</u>. Companies continually try to find and adopt new methods to improve the availability and efficiency of their systems while exploring different ways to reduce their maintenance cost. Hence, it has become a practice in many companies to have maintenance as a center of strategic thinking as it is not only needed to maintain the reliability of a system but also contributes to generating profit in business (Livanage et al., 2001). The grounds of the work conducted in this study are based on the combination of maintenance decisions with a future investment decision to make a strategic business decision for a company.

In the application of maintenance strategies, the state of the equipment plays an integral role. The state of the equipment is studied from the information collected during its operation. Condition-based maintenance is one such maintenance strategy that monitors the condition of the system and sends alerts if the system reaches the predefined trigger points of the need for maintenance (<u>Campbell et al., 2015</u>). Condition-based maintenance takes account of current risks and abnormalities in a system and helps in the prediction of future complications to ensure proper functioning of the system. It monitors the health of the equipment and identify the problems with real-time inspections before potential damage. The application of condition-based maintenance can be very valuable for the industries to help prevent future failures without incurring unnecessary costs and associated risks.

This work proposes scenario framework that explores decision factors qualitatively in three scenarios and a quantitative approach to explore future investment options with the ability to modify the strategy in the fourth scenario. The motivation is to improve the framework that takes care of the current needs for the maintenance of the system without heavy costs and supports the idea of investment in future technological developments. Traditional valuation methods such as net present value analysis are not sufficient to understand the potential of such projects as they lack the option to change decisions in future if needed (Pivorienė et al., 2017). Though it is difficult to assess the costs and benefits of developing technology, however, there are ways that are used to evaluate them. Real options analysis is one such technique that takes account of a company's fiscal matters, provides flexibility for decision-makers, and has an effective approach to assess the value of future development (Pivorienė et al., 2017). The pliability of decision-making with a substantial financial evaluation of an option defines real options. Option to abandon, delay, growth, choose, expand, switch a project because of any reason can be assessed and evaluated with the help of real options analysis. Real options analysis also has the ability to determine the success and failure of the executed option in a situation, allowing the flexibility in decision-making at various stages of a project. Implementation of real options helps industries to understand future risks and value of the project/investment, thus, incorporating an efficient strategic path for the company. Therefore, real options analysis can be used to overcome the gaps in traditional valuation methods. Hence, the quantitative approach is explored with real option analysis, to evaluate technological development for future investments which can help to reduce maintenance costs of a company and aid to generate more profits.

1.2 Objective of the Thesis

The objective of this thesis is to suggest strategic decision-making for maintenance practices. The hypothesis is based on the fact that real options valuation methods are used for strategic decision-

making in industry. Therefore, they can be applied to strategic decision-making related to maintenance practices and future technology investment. To address this hypothesis, conditionbased maintenance strategy is selected, factors affecting the decision-making are investigated. Then the real options method is explored for a future investment option with the idea to reduce maintenance costs. This study will state the importance of condition-based maintenance to analyze the factors affecting decision-making for different maintenance scenarios. The option of future investment will be evaluated through real options analysis with various assumptions and estimations of future technological options. Therefore, the combined approach of condition-based maintenance with real options analysis is explored in one of the scenario analyses. The other three scenarios state the importance of condition-based maintenance qualitatively with the factors affecting the decision-making for different maintenance options. Real options analysis is performed in scenario four with traditional financial methods. This methodology is applied to case studies of two different companies from two different industries, a Canadian airline company - "WestJet Airlines" and a North American trucking company - "TFI International Inc.", using data from publicly available financial reports. A "timing/deferral" options analysis is performed for its success and failure for its future implementation.

1.3 Structure of the Thesis

This thesis is arranged into five chapters. After this introductory chapter, chapter two presents a literature review related to the proposed framework of the analysis. The literature review introduces the importance of decision-making and different kinds of maintenance practices with a detailed description of condition-based maintenance. Various traditional financial methods used in industry, common risks in development and innovation are also examined in various

sections. A brief introduction on real options is also mentioned. Chapter three considers how the real options framework is applied to maintenance decision making, including options for future technology investment decisions and timing. Chapter four applies the real options framework for maintenance strategy selection in two different industries: the commercial airline industry and the trucking industry. It also explains various maintenance checks and their costs and procedures for both industries. The application of condition-based maintenance and real options analysis on case studies will be conducted through four scenario analyses. Calculation of discounted cash flow, net present value, sensitivity analysis with a potential real options analysis is presented. A brief discussion of the study and its limitations is also mentioned in chapter four. Chapter five discusses the study and offers conclusions and recommendations for future work.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

This chapter explains and reviews concepts related to the field of strategic decision-making for maintenance practices and economics with a focus on real options analysis. A brief description on importance of decision-making is discussed. Different maintenance strategies practiced in the industry and their impact on operational and financial expenses are reviewed.

Common risks in future investment for development and innovation are described and popular traditional valuation approaches and financial methodologies used in industries to evaluate their projects are also mentioned. Finally, the importance of real options and their advantages for future decision-making is presented. Various kinds of real options and their steps are also introduced.

2.1 Decision-Making- Importance and Concepts

Identifying a situation/problem, understanding it by gathering information, assessing its risks and impact, and proposing a solution is a general concept of decision-making. In business, every decision has an impact on the company; and a decision can be related to the value of any tangible or intangible asset (Vaidya, 2006). Effective, and flexible decision-making strategies have become an essential requirement for companies to address practical and complex problems (Zavadskas et al., 2011).

In large corporations, consistent criteria for decision-making are necessary for effective strategic planning and for financial and operational management (<u>Bhushan et al., 2007</u>). Questions such as what kind of decisions need to be made, what kind of resources are needed, how are the resources allocated, how will the success or failure of the decision be measured, and can we revise

the decision in the future, are important for the present and future operations of the company and therefore, play a crucial part in the dynamic world of decision-making (Bhushan et al., 2007). Hence, decision criteria and potential alternatives are important factors for decision analysis. Multi-criteria decision-making is considered an important tool to help decision-makers compare and evaluate various options. Its framework provides flexibility to explore problems for multiple options in an organization. Data and information are also vital parts of decision analysis. For management to make a decision, every piece of information (old or new) that is relevant to the requirement helps to establish the relationship between various variables tangible or intangible to make an informed decision.

2.2 Multi-Criteria Decision Making

To assess and select the most profitable and effective option from all potential decisions is the main objective of the decision-making process (Zavadskas et al., 2011). However, with many competitive numbers of alternatives, it becomes difficult for the decision-makers to make that choice. MCDM is one such technique that helps to analyze these decision options and ease the task for decision-makers (Ananda et al., 2009). It is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative strategies (Ahire et al., 1995). In corporations, one of the main objectives is to maximize profit, hence the efficient allocation of capital and resources is a major goal of making decisions (Hallerbach et al., 2002). It is believed that for financial decisions MCDM provides quality in the economic decision-making process and the resulting decisions as well (Hallerbach et al., 2001), the general steps of MCDM are the following:

- 1. data acquisition and assessment of the present state
- 2. Identifying the goals and preferences

- 3. generating alternative treatments/methods
- 4. Selecting the appropriate scale for the method according to their impact
- 5. Selecting the most efficient options concerning the objectives
- 6. Choosing an alternative if required.

There are various other techniques and methods to achieve successful decision-making. Some of the techniques <u>(Velasquez et al., 2013)</u> are Multi-Attribute Utility Theory, Analytical Hierarchy Process, Data Envelopment Analysis, Weighted Product Model, Simple Multi-Attribute Rating Technique, Goal Programming, ELECTRE, PROMETHEE. These techniques are not only used in financial decisions but have applications in all functional areas in a company such as engineering design evaluations, supplier evaluations, marketing strategies, production, etc. <u>(Ahire et al., 1995)</u>.

Each decision-making method has different strength and limitations, and they are applied according to the assumptions, perspectives, need of the company and their desired outcome. Sometimes, two techniques are integrated together to fulfill the requirement and to achieve the best outcome (Dotoli et al., 2020). MCDM helps to solve issues with different evaluation criteria, is super-efficient, can deal with the variation of data, and assess the alternatives (Almahdi et al., 2019). There are different approaches to decide on a decision-making technique (Abdelli et al., 2020). The information available to the companies, time, and cost to obtain final results can be some parameters to determine which method to use for a specific problem (Abdelli et al., 2020).

2.3 Risk

Any potential loss or injury or uncertainty in a system can be determined as risk. It can be material, operational, human, social, or environmental. Risk is also associated as a product of the probability of an event and its consequence (Lipsett, 2016) as described in the following equation:

Generally, risk is considered as a negative factor but the decision of a positive risk or a negative risk is made after weighing all other elements in a system. Risks are not only positive and negative; they can be qualitative, quantitative, or both. Qualitatively, any situation that draws exposure to danger/hazard is defined as risk. Quantitatively, it is the likelihood of the event and the evaluation of its consequences.

Qualitative Risk Analysis- This method is used to classify risks according to their probability and impact values. In this approach, various factors of risks such as likelihood, its effect on small and big term goals, its measure, response time, and exchange of its information, discussion, and communication, play an important role in the realistic assessment. Risk categorization, probability impact matrix, scenario analysis, interviews, surveys, expert judgment are some of the techniques of qualitative risk analysis.

Quantitative Risk Analysis- One of the major disadvantages of qualitative risk analysis is to measure the potential of uncertain assessment as it is subjective to human judgment, therefore, to quantify the uncertainty, quantitative methods come into play. Probability distributions and Monte-Carlo simulations are some of the common techniques. From, a decision-making perspective, quantitative techniques assess uncertain variables to output recognition (<u>Abbas et al., 2020</u>).

It is a common practice to combine assessment, management, and communication to form a complete analysis. Similarly, Risk Analysis are divided into risk assessment, risk management, and risk communication. The cause, frequency, and magnitude of risk are measured in the risk assessment. It is the first step for decision-making. The effects and causes of risks are minimized and controlled as part of risk management. Risk communication is the last step of the analysis, it is the process of exchanging information about risk assessment and risk management between administrators, stakeholders, and other members of the organization.

There is vast research on risks associated with different kind of systems. Risk assessment is affected by an understanding the risk and its perception (<u>Yarong et al., 2021</u>). Risks cannot be classified into one category, as they vary from different stages of an idea, development, implementation, and application. Risks can be operational, financial, external, strategic, technological, market, economic, social, managerial, technical (<u>Snieska et al., 2020</u>), organizational, political, regulatory, environmental (<u>Sun et al., 2020</u>), business, commercialization, customer, and more (<u>Mattar, 2017</u>). This section provides a general list of references associated with maintenance and new technological developments. Financial, market, organizational, technological are some of the risks explained in the section below.

1. Financial Risks: Any risk involving capital, funding, investment, credit activity, insurance is termed as financial risks (Sava et al., 2018). It is an important category of risks as financing is critical for industrial factors such as resources, operation, development, and maintenance. Financial risks are present at all stages in a company and therefore, should be managed by the firm and its shareholders (Lasloom, 2021). Less financial distress and reduced cost of bankruptcy, proper corporate coordination for financing and investment are some of the advantages of management of financial risks by the firm itself (Lasloom, 2021).

- 2. Market Risks: Market can be called as the amalgamation of demand, supply, distribution, the customer wants, competition with other manufacturers or providers, better/efficient or cheaper products, change in policies or regulations or climate/natural disasters as these factors influence companies and therefore entire market. Therefore, any risks associated with these factors affecting a company are known as market risks. Sometimes market risks are missed by companies as more importance is given to technology (Mattar, 2017). The assessment and conditions of the market should be explored and compared before the decision-making for the product/technology (Mattar, 2017).
- **3. Technological Risks:** There can be many risks related to this category. Design technology, manufacturing technology, platform development, process development, IP, technical, technology life cycle (<u>Schuh et al., 2020</u>). At the early stages of the development of technology, design and technical risks play a crucial part as they lead to the next phase of development. As the development process mature, process, manufacturing, and platform development risks play a higher role.
- **4. Organizational Risks:** Factors such as their employee selection, legal, reputational, security, leadership, cooperation between teams may affect a deliverable that is a firm is not able to put the product on the market. Risks from these internal factors are called organizational risks. Uncertainty from these factors may not compromise a product completely but can seriously impact its implementation (<u>Durst et al., 2019</u>).

2.4 Maintenance

For asset-intensive companies, the maintenance and operations departments are often the largest. For example, in refineries, the operations and maintenance departments account for 30% of total staffing (Dekker, 1996). Maintenance strategies have evolved to corrective maintenance to risk-based maintenance over the years. According to (Arunraj et al., 2007) corrective and reactive maintenance was introduced as the first generation. Over the years, many other strategies, such as preventive, time-based, condition-based, reliability-centered, and computer-aided maintenance were found. These maintenance strategies are described in the following section.

Common Maintenance Strategies

2.4.1 Reactive Maintenance

This type of maintenance is appropriate when a small piece of equipment usually a noncritical component fails. It refers to the failure of one part, not the entire system. Run-to failure and breakdown maintenance falls under this category. The process results in a short repairing time of the particular component (Lee et al., 2017) but there is a very low opportunity cost of lost production. In some cases, an unexpected production delay or lower efficacy rate can occur due to labor shortage, parts of supply chain, or consequential damage to other systems. (Lee et al., 2017). Generally, no huge amount of capital investments is required, the loss is controlled by low-cost spares. This maintenance is generally applied with the consideration that the equipment will not cause any safety or environmental risks.

2.4.2 Preventive Maintenance

Preventive maintenance is a proactive strategy, also known as routine maintenance or planned maintenance. This approach requires maintenance activities to be performed before any failure is likely to occur. Activities such as lubrication, cleaning procedures, and timely replacement of machine parts are part of preventive maintenance. Preventive maintenance restores full functionality and extends the life of an asset. However, some activities may cause disturbance in production, more downtime giving rise to the opportunity cost of lost production. Any new secondary damage due to maintenance errors will also cause an increase in downtime and cost. Preventive maintenance ensures the intended performance of the equipment (Palma et al., 2010). Long-term strategies with a pre-defined interval period are the key requirements of preventive maintenance (Basri et al., 2017).

2.4.3 Shutdown Maintenance

Major inspection, repairs, and replacement of some or all systems are the causes of shutdown maintenance. Most of the time, it is pre-planned and controlled by maintenance management systems for large assets. Unlike a maintenance strategy, it's a kind of implementation for maintenance. Sometimes, unforeseen shutdown maintenance is carried out causing major loss of production and capital as a stoppage to operations occurs. One of the key principles of maintenance activities is to ensure the optimization of the equipment to increase its availability for production and its reliability and, also to minimize operational risk (Hameed et al., 2016). In the case of shutdown maintenance, if the shutdown interval is small, downtime/shutdown time will be less, but the cost of

maintenance and potential production loss will be high <u>(Hameed et al., 2016)</u>. On the other hand, if the interval is too long, maintenance cost, production loss will be low but there is a high-risk exposure <u>(Hameed et al., 2016)</u>. Therefore, Improper planning and implementation of shutdown maintenance can lead to significant consequences.

2.4.4 Condition-based maintenance

In this kind of maintenance, information on the current state of the system plays a very important factor. The state of the equipment is identified, and its health is analyzed to predict the possible failure in the system (Lee et al., 2017). Various statistical tools and techniques are used to process and analyze data collected from the equipment (Lee et al., 2017). Depending upon the information and state of the system, maintenance is carried out. This maintenance strategy can be used to save cost, downtime as some regular checks that are part of preventive maintenance strategy in many companies can be avoided here. Condition-based maintenance is also referred as the alternative of predictive maintenance (Lee et al., 2017), but with more prominence to real time assessment. Wireless sensors/networks, Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) devices are used for monitoring and failure prediction in this type of maintenance. Other technologies such as Micro-Electro-Mechanical System (MEMS), Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition (SCADA), Product Embedded Information Device (PEID) are also used for monitoring the status during the usage period (Shin et al., 2015). Some of the warning signs used for conditionmonitoring are temperature rise, vibrations, noise levels, cracks and deformation, particles release, resistance, etc. (Tsang, 1995).

A condition-based maintenance strategy is a very dynamic and flexible approach. It determines maintenance decisions based on the deterioration state information of the system (Zhou et al., 2019) and therefore, a targeted maintenance plan can be formed. As a result, economic losses from the system breakdown and expenses from unnecessary repairs are reduced considerably (Tahan et al., 2017). This maintenance strategy not only focuses on fault detection but also monitors the degradation of the equipment and helps in failure prediction (Shin et al., 2015). Therefore, condition-based maintenance identifies and solves problems before any damage takes place (Shin et al., 2015).

To assess the health of a system in condition maintenance system, different methods such as vibration monitoring, acoustic analysis, thermography, tribology, visual inspections, etc. are used (<u>Lee et al., 2008</u>). A small description of three popular techniques is mentioned below:

1. Vibration Monitoring

It is used to detect system malfunction based on measured vibration signals. System malfunction can be caused by misalignment, unbalance, resonance, loosened assemblies, turbulence, etc. (Tsang, 1995) (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007). Sensors are used to detect system malfunction. The sensitivity of sensors used for parameters such as amplitude, velocity, and acceleration vary with the frequency of vibration (Tsang, 1995). Generally, for low-frequency signals, amplitude sensors are used, for middle ranges, velocity sensors are used, and accelerometers are used for higher frequencies (Tsang, 1995) (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007).

2. Thermography

Thermography uses instruments to measure absolute or relative temperatures of key parts of the system (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007). When a certain part of the system reaches temperatures beyond a certain point, the abnormal temperatures are taken as alarm signals of developing problems (Tsang, 1995). There are two types of equipment used in this technology. Thermometers and thermocouples are popular ways to measure a system's temperature and are referred to as the contact method (Tsang, 1995) (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007). The non-contact method uses infrared sensors and infrared imaging to capture thermal data (Tsang, 1995) (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007).

3. Tribology

It is also called Lubricating Oil Analysis or Oil-based monitoring in condition-based maintenance (Tsang, 1995) (Lee et al., 2008). In this method, the condition of both the lubricant and the internal surfaces in contact with the lubricant is monitored at regular intervals (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007). When oil reaches an alarming state, it is replaced to maintain and improve the system operation (Lee et al., 2008). The typical oil analysis is done to check the presence of contamination that can be internally generated, externally generated, water/moisture based, or from by-products from the chemical breakdown of lubricants (International Atomic Energy Agency, 2007). One of the major limitations of this method is expensive equipment and the accuracy and testing of oil samples.

2.4.5 Reliability Centered Maintenance

This maintenance procedure is used when there is more than one maintenance strategy is required for any physical asset in its operating environment. It is used to find balance with the mix of maintenance strategies for different parts of the system as well as its design and production operations. It is based on the concept that all failures do not occur equally and affect the system function differently <u>(Tsang, 1995)</u>. The RCM technique is outlined in following steps by <u>Smith, 1993</u> :

- 1. The system under maintenance is selected and necessary information is collected to define system boundary.
- 2. A functional block diagram is prepared, and system functions and failures are identified.
- 3. For maintenance procedure, Failure mode and effect analysis (FMEA) is carried out. (FMEA is an approach to find and correct system failures. It is a procedure not a maintenance strategy and is not exclusive to reliability centered maintenance. A brief description of FMEA is mentioned below).
- 4. A decision-tree analysis is performed for maintenance task selection.

In reliability centered maintenance, maintenance strategies are implemented and optimized to preserve the system and maintain its productivity. It identifies the most critical parts of the system and minimize its failures to increase its availability and reliability. It is used for complex systems in industries like steel plants, railway networks, ships maintenance, etc. (<u>Cheng et al., 2008</u>).

Failure Mode and Effect Analysis

FMEA is an inductive approach use to analyze system failures in a system. This method also gives detail about the source, reasons, and consequences of system failures and helps to formulate ways to reduce them. FMEA analysis can be implemented on a component, on an entire system or any subsystem. FMEA helps to correct system failures at design and production levels. FMEA identifies functions and failure modes of functionally significant items (Cheng et al., 2008). FMEA tells us about the qualitative information of a system and its operations. An improved technique of FMEA called FMECA (Failure Mode and Effect Criticality Analysis) results in a quantitative form of information about failures.

FMEA Procedure:

The following are the steps that are performed for FMEA analysis in general:

- 1. Examine the system for FMEA analysis. Define its subsystems and their components which includes all the internal and connecting parts of the system.
- 2. Depending upon the relationship of the components and the aim of the analysis, construct block diagrams. The block diagrams can be structural, functional, or combined.
- Identify all failure modes, the causes and effects of every component, subsystem, and its related function in the system.
- Assess each failure mode on the level of its worst potential consequence and assign a severity classification number.
- 5. Identify failure detection techniques and mitigation methods for each failure mode.
- Calculate Risk Priority Number (RPN).
 The RPN is a critical rating that is a product of severity, occurrence, and detection of the failure modes. A higher rating of RPN results in higher risk in a system.
- 7. The need for corrective action or design is determined on the basis of the RPN.

- 8. Propose and implement a method to correct failures and improve system performance.
- 9. File the analysis in the tabular form of the FMEA report.

2.4.6 Contract Maintenance

All types of maintenance practices can be used for contract maintenance but here a part or all the maintenance work is outsourced. It is usually done to reduce the operational costs in a company, but it also involves extra costs of outsourcing and some risks related to it. Contract maintenance is carried out when the benefits provided by the service provider outmatch the meets of the in-house maintenance. Some of the advantages are reduction in labor cost, reduction in the cost of carrying extra inventory, and special equipment and other associated overheads. Maintenance providers may use the latest methods and techniques available in the market. Large air carriers outsource some of their maintenance requirement. Generally, for labour intensive maintenance checks (heavy maintenance checks) in airlines that require large hanger space, testing equipment, contract maintenance is used (McFadden et al., 2012). For cost savings, Delta airlines use facilities from the Far East for the heavy maintenance of their wide-body aircrafts (McFadden et al., 2012).

2.4.7 Risk-based maintenance

Risk-based maintenance is the framework involving risk assessment, risk management, and communication. This methodology lays out the systematic way to determine maintenance plans for the assets that carry the most risk of failure. Risk-based maintenance is very popular in transportation and industrial systems (<u>Arunraj et al.</u>, <u>2007</u>). This practice also takes care of the strategic and operational needs of the company.

Risk-based maintenance helps to minimize the risk of failure in an economical way. Systems/assets that possess a higher risk of failure are monitored and maintained more frequently than the ones that carry lower risk. For regular monitoring and maintenance, generally, condition-based maintenance is implemented. Hence, Risk-based maintenance is considered as an addition to condition-based maintenance for various operational conditions (Leoni et al., 2019). (Krishnasamy et al., 2005) divided the methodology of risk-based maintenance into four steps: identify the scope of the failure, assess the risk, evaluation of the risk, and develop a maintenance plan. (Khan et al., 2004) (Krishnasamy et al., 2005) (Abbassi et al., 2016) have proposed various risk-based maintenance techniques with similar methodology steps as mentioned above. Risk-based maintenance consists of identifying the fault/failure events and their consequences. A Fault tree analysis (FTA) or Event Tree Analysis (ETA) can be used to perform probabilistic failure analysis (Leoni et al., 2019). With the results of failure analysis, risks are evaluated and compared for critical components and maintenance planning. For complex systems with dynamic parameters, an advanced probabilistic model-Bayesian network can also be used (Arzaghi et al., 2017). An optimum maintenance plan is formed according to the evaluated associated risks. Decision-makers prefer a maintenance strategy that can provide a continuous uninterrupted operation of a system with minimum cost (Arzaghi et al., 2017). A maintenance plan can have any possible solutions such as major repair, major replacements, capital investments, and many more. Different maintenance techniques can be included in the maintenance planning for economic aspects, providing flexibility to decision-makers for the desired outcome (Arzaghi et al., 2017).

2.5 Financial Valuation Options Overview

Financial valuation methods have evolved over the years and there is a large amount of literature available to discuss various models and methods. Discounted cash flow (DCF) and net present value (NPV) analysis are traditional valuation methods that are widely used and accepted (Schwartz, 2013). These methods are easy to adapt for managers and provide opportunities and options for further valuation.

2.5.1 Discounted Cash Flow and Net Present Value Analysis

The Present value method is used to calculate present expected gain or loss by discounting all expected future cash flows (Carras et al., 2020). It calculates the value today based on the projections of value generation in the future, i.e., a present value is used to determine the potential future value (Li, 2020). If the calculated value is higher than the investment cost, it is considered as a profitable investment. DCF is carried into three steps (Li, 2020) : forecasting of free cash flow is done for a defined period, the second step is to calculate the predicted level of cash flow based on the assumptions. For the results, free cash flow is discounted on discounted rate/weighted average cost of capital (Li, 2020). The formula (Mattar, 2017) for net present value is mentioned below. Here, C_t is the cash flow for the year t and r is the expected rate of return/discount rate/weighted average cost of capital which is typically the opportunity cost of capital (Carras et al., 2020).

$$PVt = \frac{C_t}{(1+r)^t}$$

NPV = Σ PVt - Initial Cost

NPV is calculated using the sum of all future cash flows of a given project discounted to present day which is Σ PVt and subtration of the cost of the initial investment. The higher the value of NPV, the better is the project from a financial perspective. DCF and NPV are easy to implement and are widely used, however, these methods, however, have some disadvantages. The discount rate chosen for valuation is considered constant and the possibility of any changes in the decision-making criteria is ignored (Pivorienė et al., 2017). In the traditional methods, the projects are considered independent, but a long-term strategic goal is usually interrelated. Traditional methods do not consider strategic decision-making and assume the expected run of the project regardless of any uncertainty (Lee, 2011).

Besides traditional financial methods, there are many financial option theory methods. Financial option theory deals with the variables such as volatility, interest rate, underlying asset etc. (Mattar, 2017). Most common are Monte-Carlo simulations, Binomial model, and Black-Scholes model. Uncertainty is expressed as parameters in these methods which gives the management the flexibility to make valuable decisions. These options also provide the ability to make decisions that are interrelated to each other. The Black-Scholes model is popular in the R&D and technology industry (Black et al., 2019) for investment approaches, whereas the Binomial Model is most used for risk-neutral probabilities and is found simpler to use.

2.5.2 Monte Carlo Simulation

Monte Carlo Simulation is applied to continuous distributions that incorporate random variability of parameters (<u>Bonate, 2001</u>). From the sampling distribution of parameters, a random set of inputs are drawn to obtain a possible set of outcomes (<u>Raychaudhuri, 2008</u>). The most challenging step in this method is to define the distribution of the inputs in the system because of

limited knowledge (<u>Bonate, 2001</u>). However, distributions can be determined by examining a variable's conditions in the previous stages of the analysis (<u>Mattar, 2017</u>) or created from expert knowledge (<u>Bonate, 2001</u>). The data for input variables can be empirical data or data from system models (<u>Raychaudhuri, 2008</u>). For example, A minimum distribution is assigned to the variable where there is an equal likelihood of minimum and maximum values (<u>Mattar, 2017</u>). For a random variable of unknown distribution, a sensitivity analysis is carried out with the assumptions of best-case and worst-case scenarios and can be used for simulation.

One of the limitations of Monte Carlo Simulation, is the large computational requirements of simulations, especially when there is a large number of variables (<u>Smid et al., 2012</u>). Also, when the projects are at initial or early on stages of research and innovation, there is very limited knowledge of variables or characteristics of variables. Monte Carlo simulation should not be implemented in that scenario.

2.5.3 Black Scholes Model

The Black-Scholes equation (Pivorienė et al., 2017) (Mattar, 2017) for a call and put option are:

$$c = N(d_1)S - N(d_2)Xe^{-rT}$$

and

$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{N}(-\mathbf{d}_2)\mathbf{X}\mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{r}\mathbf{T}} - \mathbf{N}(-\mathbf{d}_1)S$$

where $N(d_1)$ and $N(d_2)$ are the statistical measure, representing the values of standard normal distributions, their values (<u>Pivorienė et al., 2017</u>) (<u>Mattar, 2017</u>) are:

$$d_1 = \frac{\ln(S/X) + (r + \sigma^2/2)T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}$$

 $d_2 = d_1 - \sigma \sqrt{T}$

where

S = current value of an underlying asset

 σ = stock price volatility

T = time to the maturity/expiry

R = risk-free rate of return

Black Scholes theory is considered a successful approach to estimate market volatility of an underlying asset (Teneng et al., 2011). However, there are certain limitations to it. The prediction of market/stock direction (Teneng et al., 2011) is not always consistent as many economic factors control the market. Similarly, it does not account for any changes in the value of assets or interest rates (Teneng et al., 2011) (Mattar, 2017).Black Scholes model considers assets to follow a lognormal distribution, which is not always true for real assets (Teneng et al., 2011) (Mattar, 2017).

2.5.4 Binomial Model

The binomial model follows a discrete-time approach that uses binomial lattice to determine the changes in the value of an option <u>(Brandão et al., 2005)</u>. It can be viewed as a probability tree resulting in binary branches with values moving up (upswing)(u) or moving down

(downswing)(d) (Brandão et al., 2005). In this model, at start time, t=0, the value of the underlying asset is considered as $S_{0.}$ Over the next period (example t=1), the value of the underlying asset will take an upswing i.e., $S_{0.}$ or a downswing $S_{0.}$ (Dar et al., 2017). The value of upswing is considered as when the value of the asset goes up and hence the value is considered as greater than one. Similarly, the value of d is considered as less than 1 (Dar et al., 2017). The values of u and d are calculated with the formula (Dar et al., 2018):

$$u = exp(\sigma\sqrt{\delta t})$$

$$d = \frac{1}{u}$$

The values of $S_0 u$ or $S_0 d$ are weighted by their probabilities to calculate the value across the lattice (<u>Dar et al., 2018</u>). The risk neutral probability is calculated from the formula (<u>Dar et al., 2017</u>) (<u>Dar et al., 2018</u>):

$$p = \frac{\exp(r\delta t) - d}{u - d}$$

where r is the risk adjusted discount rate.

The decision to exercise an option is calculated with the backward induction method (<u>Mattar</u>, <u>2017</u>). If the value of the difference between the asset value and investment value is negative, the option is not considered otherwise ways to exercise investment are explored (<u>Mattar</u>, <u>2017</u>).

2.6 Real Options

To prevent the errors from traditional valuation methods and to help decision-makers to make more informed economic and strategic decisions in uncertain environments, real options are applied (Pivorienė et al., 2017). The term "real option" was formed in 1977 (Yu et al., 2008). The word option is for "alternative" or "possibility" (Trigeorgis et al., 2017). An option is right but not an obligation for the specified decision (Trigeorgis et al., 2017). Real Options provide an opportunity to evaluate uncertain future possibilities. It also provides flexibility to modify decisions in the future if needed. It provides flexibility to manage many strategic decisions (Lipsett, 2018) too and plays an important part to manage or reduce any risks involved in business decisions.

There are many ways to evaluate market values of investment projects, research and development, expansions, and other initiatives (Copeland et al., 2004). Real options are not only the financial options, but financial options are a part of the real option analysis or valuation. Real options are used to make or modify decisions in uncertain, volatile or risk environments to achieve a favourable outcome in business. Organizational theories and financial theories of investment may not always be in sync when there is a business decision, they both share several techniques (like NPV) and risks involved in the decision (Bowman et al., 2001). Real options gain popularity and importance over financial decisions because of the belief that decision-makers will have flexibility and ability to expand, invest, modify or abandon the course of a project at any given point of time and still try to achieve an overall strategic decision for the company.

According to <u>(Atari et al., 2019)</u>, real option valuation is an extension of financial options theory for real and physical assets. To evaluate a value of an investment, the options trading approach was introduced by option pricing by Black and Scholes <u>(Black et al., 1973)</u>. That model calculates the price of a call option and options in general by incorporating a constant price variation of the asset, the money value, the price of the option, exercised, and the maturity or the expiration value (Black et al., 1973). Later, a new option valuation approach called Monte Carlo Simulation was introduced by (Boyle et al., 1977), where random variables were generated to get the pricing value by the traders. However, the evaluation of an option price (Glasserman, 2004) was more acceptable than the MCS approach.

The nature of uncertainties and risks are also different for real options and financial options. When exercising a real option, sometimes, stakeholders are more concerned with the exercise of the option than its value because the dynamics of the underlying process can be modified (<u>Kang et al., 2017</u>). However, in financial theory, when the stock price is higher than the exercise price, companies like to exercise the option (<u>Black et al., 2019</u>).

Net present value approach and discounted cash flow method are generally used to explore investment projects as decision-makers find it easier to model and explain and implement (Pimentel et al., 2020). These traditional approaches however do not consider uncertainty, flexible options or delay (Balliauw, 2021). In investment decisions, even if the uncertainty is very low, the NPV approach for decision may not be correct (Balliauw, 2021). However, in projects with large investments, irreversible projects, delayed implementation, real options are more suitable as they provide managerial flexibility to alter decisions for best outcome (Dixit et al., 1994) It is important to know that real options are not the replacement for NPV and DCF approaches. It is an additional and complementary approach to calculate the value of the project with minimum risks and more options (Dixit et al., 1994).
2.7 Types of Real Options

Real options analysis helps decision-makers to fulfil strategic targets and increase the company's profit and help investors and shareholders (Peters, 2016). General Motors from the automobile industry, HP-Compaq from the computer industry, Boeing from the airline industry, AT&T from the telecommunication industry and many other companies from sectors of oil and gas, real estate, pharmaceutical and e-business have implemented real option analysis (Mun, 2012). These companies are using this tool to make strategic decisions that can be exercised in different ways. Common ways in which real options are exercised are the following:

- 1. Option to Expand
- 2. Option to Abandon
- 3. Option to Contract
- 4. Option to Switch Resources
- 5. Option to Delay
- 6. Option to Choose

Option to expand refers to scale up the conditions favorable for the company to make more profits or expand resources. **Option to abandon**, states the termination of the project. The real option to abandon gives flexibility to stop a project if it doesn't meet the needs of the company. **Option to contract**, is similar to the option to expand. If the conditions of the project are unfavorable, the management can reduce the extent of the project. **Option to switch resources**, provides the management the ability to change their demand and supply. The factors for switching to a different reason can be anything from change in market trends, to customer needs or better expertise. **Option to delay**, refers to a company's decision to strategically delay a project until the uncertainty is resolved. The reasons for delay can be technology, market, performance, inventory, etc. **Option to choose**, this option gives complete flexibility to a company, to change any part of a decision based on the current situation of the project/asset. Other options of real options are **option to grow**, **option to outsource**, **compound options**, **option to license in and option to collaborate**. Every real option exercised by the management takes consideration of many factors. Some of them are risks, uncertainties, costs, downtime, maintenance, operations, assets, new technologies, market, government, environment.

The framework of real options is based on the flexibility of decisions to make strategic choices to continue the project or abandon or modify it. If the risks and costs incorporated for a project change in an uncertain environment, managers have the option to revisit the investments in the project to have positive outcomes. According to <u>Mun, 2012</u>, real option analysis is carried out in eight steps that are listed below. The following are the general steps of real options analysis. These steps are further explained in the next chapter (chapter 3) of this study. These steps are modified to lay out a framework for this study, which is also mentioned in the next chapter.

The following are the general steps of real option analysis:

1. Qualitative management screening

- 2. Time-series and regression forecasting
- 3. Base case net present value analysis

4. Monte Carlo simulation

5. Real Options problem framing

- 6. Real options modelling and analysis
- 7. Portfolio and resource optimization
- 8. Reporting and update analysis

The steps of real options can also be analyzed as modified phases of risk analysis. Apart from assessment and management, other phases are risk identification, risk prediction, risk modeling, risk mitigation, risk hedging and risk diversification. Real option analysis focuses on uncertainties, but the analysis is done ahead of time for business decisions, with a scope of revisiting the decisions if needed.

2.8 Discussion

Maintenance strategies and decision-making techniques are part of industries, and the management of every company tries to find and adapt the strategic ways to mitigate the losses and use the resources for their maximum advantage. The real options framework provides freedom to decision-makers at all stages in the industry, whether it is to evaluate the investments or revisit a business decision.

This chapter discussed the importance of decision-making. Different kinds of maintenance strategies used in the industry were described. In the next section, different kinds of risk categories were defined and discussed. Different financial valuation methods of the industry were explained, with their advantages and disadvantages. The last section described real options, their importance, and advantages. Further, various real options are described briefly with the steps of the framework of real option analysis.

Chapter 3 Framework of the Analysis

The framework in this study is developed by following the general eight steps of real options analysis for strategic decisions (Mun, 2012). In the first section of this chapter, the general steps of real option analysis are explained very briefly. Further, the framework for strategic maintenance decision-making using the real option approach is described. The uncertainty of the future gives rise to midcourse alterations for the investments in a company. Decision-makers sometimes revisit the strategic options when the risks and the value of the project changes. Real Options analysis provides the flexibility for these alterations for the best possible outcome for decision-makers.

3.1 Major Steps of Real Options Analysis

- 1. Qualitative management screening
- 2. Time-series and regression forecasting
- 3. Base case net present value analysis
- 4. Monte Carlo simulation
- 5. Real Options problem framing
- 6. Real options modelling and analysis
- 7. Portfolio and resource optimization
- 8. Reporting and update analysis

Qualitative Management Screening

The first step of real options analysis is very critical for the management as it involves consideration of all kinds of projects and strategies of the company. Decision-makers factor in the investments and plans of the future by focussing on the vision and goal of the company. This step also identifies various risks to the organization along with the growth and globalization objectives.

Time-Series and Regression Forecasting

After the qualitative screening, plans for the next step are forecasted in this step. There are various methods used for forecasting, cash-flow time series analysis, or if comparative or previously documented records are available. Qualitative methods like expert opinions, subjective assumptions, Delphi method can also be used as forecasting methods.

Base Case Net Present Value Analysis

Decision-makers develop a discounted cash flow model for the projects that pass the initial first two steps of the real options analysis. After a discounted cash flow is generated, a risk-adjusted rate of return is considered to calculate net present value analysis. The discount rate chosen varies subjectively and can cause an error in the calculation (Dzyuma et al., 2012). In this step, predicted cash flows are based on future revenues and costs without considering the changes and uncertainties in the circumstances (Hu et al., 2015). The net present value is accounted as the base case for the project under the analysis.

Monte Carlo Simulation

There can be many uncertainties in the parameters of the future events, which will lead to an arrangement of possible net present values. This can lead to inaccuracy in the analysis. Also, one of the disadvantages of the static discounted cash flow is that it gives rise to single -point results which can also lead to possible errors. Therefore, Monte Carlo simulation can be used for finer estimates of a project for different variables. Sensitivity analysis (<u>Mattar, 2017</u>) can also be used for best-case and worst-case scenarios to obtain better results which can be represented graphically using a Tornado chart.

Real Options Problem Framing

Real options are the possible actions that decision-makers would make for a project. Decisionmakers can invest or divest in the asset/project as a corporate option without any obligation (<u>Miller et al., 2005</u>). These options are decided strategically during the qualitative management screening of the analysis. These options may include Option to Expand, Option to Contract, Option to Abandon, Option to Switch, Option to Choose, Option to Growth, or others. The cash flow series developed in step two is modified in this step after the real options are added. Risks involved in the project are also calculated again after the addition of real options.

Real Options Modelling and Analysis

The results from the Monte Carlo simulation in step 4 are considered as the underlying variable for the future cash flow series in this step. The future cash flow value is then taken as the underlying asset value for real option modelling and analysis. The analysis can be performed by many different methods such as binomial lattice or decision trees to calculate the values of the proposed strategic options.

Portfolio and Resource Optimization

If the company is performing real options analysis on multiple projects, the future values of the projects, risks involved in those projects can be correlated. These projects should never be assumed as individual opportunities as they are associated in most cases. A company also has many restrictions on the resources involved in the strategic planning of the options, hence optimization becomes necessary. Portfolio optimization results in the ideal allocation of the company's resources across the opportunities. This is also considered an optional step of the real options analysis.

Reporting and Update Analysis

The process and the results of the analysis are reported in this step with precise explanations of the assumptions, value propositions, project objectives, costs, and risks for the management.

3.2 Methodology of the Study

The critical steps of the real options analysis mentioned in section 3.1 are used for the analysis for two companies. Some of the steps are combined and modified according to the requirements of the framework. The modifications were mentioned in the specific phases. Also, the optional step of the analysis, 'Portfolio and resource optimization' was considered out of scope for this study. The analysis of this study is divided into qualitative and quantitative scenario analysis. The analysis is done in four scenarios. The first three scenarios examine different situations under condition-based maintenance qualitatively. Various risks, costs, and other factors affecting the decision-making in these scenarios are mentioned in the analysis. The real options framework is used in the quantitative scenario analysis- Scenario 4. This scenario "Maintenance with new technologies" is divided into two phases. Phase one and phase two in scenario 4 are done for both companies for a comparative analysis. The details of the two phases are mentioned below:

Phase 1:

Introduction and Data collection

Cash flow statements and net present value analysis

Sensitivity Analysis and Tornado Diagram

Phase 2:

Real option problem framing

Real option modelling and analysis

Reporting of the analysis

3.3 Phase 1

Phase one of the analysis begins with the introduction and background information of the company with its goals and maintenance strategies. The industries explored in the study are the Airline industry and the Trucking Industry. One of the reasons to choose these industries for the application of real options analysis is that real options analysis has been used in the valuation of assets of large transportation options such as aircraft (Hu et al., 2015). Airplanes and commercial trucks follow various industry-regulated maintenance checks during their lifespan. These maintenance checks differ according to the age of the aircraft/commercial truck. The cost and downtimes of these checks have their estimates before the maintenance procedure. Sometimes, heavy maintenance checks should be revisited if the costs proceed with the general estimates. Also, if the age and condition of the asset are not suitable for heavy maintenance checks, then the decision is revisited. Similar to these, there are many conditions where these decisions are taken by decision-makers by doing the financial analysis and understanding the risks, market, technology, and other economic factors. The maintenance practices and their costs for the airline industry and the trucking industry are also mentioned in phase one of the analysis.

After the introduction and relevant information of the companies, their public financial records were studied. For the Aircraft industry, the financial records of WestJet Airlines from the year 2014-2018 were considered, whereas, for the trucking industry, the financial records of TFI Inc were examined from the year 2015-2019. The reason for considering these years for the study was based on the availability of the public financial records of the companies. The record of the first year is considered as an initial investment year for both the companies. After the data collection, for the record of revenue and operating income was considered, various relevant assumptions were made for discounted cash flow and net present value analysis. Generally, it is preferrable to use cash flow from operations. However, with limited information, for analysis, operating income

was used. Another important challenge in the study was to estimate the value of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and the minimum acceptable rate of return (MARR) for net present value analysis. A relevant value of WACC and MARR were selected for the analysis. The reasons and the record of value are mentioned in the application of the analysis in chapter 4.

According to the steps (Mun, 2012) of the real options analysis, after qualitative management, forecasting, net present value analysis, the next step is Monte Carlo Simulation. Monte Carlo simulation is not performed here as its application can become challenging with limited data. Here, a sensitivity analysis is performed to describe the variability in the factors like revenue and costs. Sensitivity analysis for factors- revenue, costs and MARR was performed and was represented in a Tornado diagram for both companies.

3.4 Phase 2

Phase 2 sums the three steps of the real options analysis which are, 'real options problem framing', 'real options modelling and analysis' and, 'reporting of the analysis'. Many financial option pricing techniques are followed in real options modelling (Miller et al., 2005). The real options analysis is performed by different techniques to determine the volatility of the project. Since, the maintenance practice and costs vary in different industry types, the type of real option considered may/may not vary.

In this study, after the sensitivity analysis, real options analysis is performed for a timing/deferral option. The maintenance needs, costs, and strategies of both companies are examined, and real options problems are framed. It is further modelled and analyzed by generating an incremental cash flow for both the companies. After the incremental cash flow, valuation of real options is done for two years with a value of upswing and downswing using binomial lattice valuation. The

reason for selecting two years and the values of upswing and downswing is mentioned in the application of the analysis section (chapter 4).

The next step of the analysis is to calculate the value of the option with a weighted probability of best case and worst-case scenario. For the study, best case probability is considered as 65% and worst case is considered as 35% and therefore, a final value of the proposed real option is generated. The reasons for considerations and assumptions for the analysis are mentioned in the specific sections of the application (chapter 4).

This is a Descriptive Thesis. It shows how the developed framework could be applied for strategic maintenance decision-making using real options in large-scale companies. The implementation is shown on the information collected from public reports of the companies. Unfortunately, a precise and detailed analysis could not be completed as there was a lack of specific information publicly available about the age of the systems and the level of maintenance performed on the systems, as well as information about the actual costs and benefits on cash flow of such organizations when implementing new maintenance systems. However, with enough information the framework could be a useful tool for decision-making on risky technology development projects.

Chapter 4 Condition-Based Maintenance Strategy Decision Making Using Real Options

This chapter comprises strategic maintenance decision-making analysis of two companies, WestJet Airlines and TFI International, where the importance and need of condition-based maintenance will be described in different scenarios. The maintenance practices of both the aircraft industry and the trucking industry will be mentioned in the chapter. The analysis will be divided into four different scenarios, where the first three scenarios will be the same for both companies and will be described qualitatively. It will discuss the need for CBM with the risks involved and the factors affecting the maintenance decision-making. In the last scenario, public financial records of both the companies will be considered to perform real options analysis under condition-based maintenance. These four scenarios are decided on the regulated maintenance practices of the industry, with the aspect of maintenance and operational costs and future opportunities.

The novel contribution of the study is to demonstrate a strategic pathway for maintenance decision-making with prospects of future technology investments, which is presented in Scenario 4. Scenario 4 is divided into two phases for both industries. Phase one will begin with the introduction and background information of the company. Data collection from the public financial records will also be reported in phase one. It will consist of discounted cash flow, net present value analysis, sensitivity analysis. Sensitivity analysis will be presented in a Tornado diagram. Phase 2 will be a real options analysis set up implemented in delayed time for future maintenance on incremental cash flow.

Scenario 4 will begin with the case study of WestJet airlines. Phase one and two will be performed on the data collected from the airline maintenance practices and financial reports of WestJet Airlines. After the completion of scenario 4 analysis on WestJet airlines, the same will be performed on TFI International for a comparative study. The major challenge in the study was the collection of data. Information on the particulars of cost and specification of maintenance practices, repairs, replacements were very limited. Factors like the age of the aircraft/truck, kind of maintenance performed, residual value, whether the aircraft/truck is leased or bought by the company were unknown. Hence, many pertinent assumptions will be made for various aspects of the analysis. The assumptions will be explained for each industry in the chapter. Despite the restricted details and many limitations, an effective case study was performed, describing the importance of CBM with real options.

4.1 Condition-Based Maintenance - Goals and Risks

For any maintenance strategy to be applied, information plays an integral role. In maintenance management, sensors are used with data acquisition to give alerts depending on the changes in the state of the equipment that relates to faults. The application of such data collection is used in condition-based maintenance. Condition-based maintenance takes account of current situations and risks in a system and helps to indicate future complications. Condition-based maintenance regulates the condition of the systems which are part of large assets for a company. Therefore, CBM can be used in the current and future valuation of assets. Hence, CBM will not only help in improved maintenance practices and reduced maintenance costs but will also help a company to achieve the following goals:

1. Low maintenance costs

2. Less downtime

3. Fewer labor costs

4. Increase in the availability of the (aircraft) equipment

5. Low operational costs

6. Increase in revenue

To incorporate a new maintenance policy or even make any small change in a company, there are risks involved. Many kinds of risks impact strategic decisions which can lead to major profits or losses in a company. These risks are analyzed by decision-makers of the company for current and future scenarios. These risks are explained in detail in literature review and are briefly described in the in the section below:





1. Market risks (in an airline industry) consist of fuel prices, interest rates, and foreign exchange rates. There are a lot of volatile markets in these categories depending on the global demand and supply.

2. Financial risks are associated with credit risks and liquidity risks of the assets and liabilities, cash and cash equivalents, and long-term debts.

3. Performance risks are related to operations, labor, and maintenance, which directly impact the fleet (of the airlines) and therefore, affect the growth of the company. Performance risks also affect the experience of the customers.

4. Risks affecting the commercialization of the company depend on the seasonality, weather conditions, and new global trends.

5. Global regulatory changes, political, economic, and legal requirements, the company's reputation, and safety regulations are related to organizational risk factors for (airlines) companies.

6. Technological risks vary from new technical and technological developments worldwide. It also involves other factors such as the replacement/supply of the machine parts.

4.2 Airline Maintenance

The airline industry is one of the largest and most complex businesses in the world. An aircraft only makes money when it is flying with freight and/or customers (Knezevic, 1997). Therefore, risk and maintenance management are vital for this industry. It becomes essential to avoid any errors or delays in the operation or maintenance of an aircraft to attain high profits. Low operating

and maintenance costs are key parameters to attain high profits for airlines. In this industry, about 10-20% of operating cost is used in maintenance activities depending on factors such as fleet size, age, and usage of aircraft (<u>Ahmadi et al., 2010</u>). However, regular checks can cause disturbance in operation, execution giving rise to an increase in lost opportunity cost. Also, in the traditional maintenance checks of airlines, any consequential damage may incur delay and potentially be expensive. Other important factors such as aircraft leasing, the residual value of aircraft, technology trends play a very essential role in an airline's maintenance practices.

According to IATA, generally, approximately 10-20% of the costs incurred by the airlines are direct operating costs. These direct operating costs include various sections like fuel costs, landing fees. It also contains maintenance and repairs. Maintenance cost directly affects the airport operations, flight hours, labor hours, downtime of airplanes, therefore it has a significant impact on the total operating expenses of the airlines.

An aircraft is composed of many different structures and systems, each structure and system require different maintenance (Saltoğlu et al., 2016). Therefore, the aviation industry has a set of regulations and procedures that are performed over the years for aircraft maintenance. Aircraft maintenance is divided into Checks A, B, C, and D, along with line maintenance checks (Saltoğlu et al., 2016). All these checks vary in duration, rate of performance, maintenance areas, and costs. The age of the aircraft plays a significant role in determining the type of maintenance for the aircraft (Saltoğlu et al., 2016). As the aircraft ages, other factors like labor costs required equipment, and materials, facility costs, supplies, overheads determine the type of maintenance.

Some of the other factors like depreciation, aircraft leasing, flight operations, and airport operations are interrelated to maintenance practices and therefore, play an essential part in framing the problem statement. Also, a part of the airworthiness of an aircraft comprises maintenance operations. Aircraft maintenance consists of activities like servicing, repair, overhaul, inspection which can restore the proper functioning of an aircraft (PeriyarSelvam et al., 2013). According to (Hölzel et al., 2014) maintenance downtimes and costs can be reduced remarkably when there is a shift from preventive to condition-based maintenance techniques. Condition-based maintenance systems will lead to a slight increase in the initial cost of an airplane, but it will result in significant cost reduction during the aircraft lifespan.

4.3 Commercial Motor Vehicle Maintenance

All kinds of motor vehicles require maintenance, whether they are big or small. Commercial motor vehicle industries like the trucking industry have large fleets and they make a major portion of their money (profit) when they are available to use. Regular usage of the fleet is delivered by regular maintenance checks. The maintenance of a vehicle also drives its cost, quality and performance, and fuel consumption. The average operating cost of a commercial truck is \$1.38 per mile, which accounts for \$180,000 total average operating costs (<u>The Real Cost of Trucking - Per Mile Operating Cost of a commercial Truck, 2021</u>). Many variables such as fuel consumption, maintenance, tires, repairs, depreciation, replacements are parts of operating costs (<u>Shukri et al., 2002</u>). Other important factors are labor costs, registration and license fees, insurance, administration fees. Approximately 10-20% of operating costs are consumed in maintenance costs (<u>Shukri et al., 2002</u>), depending on the type and size of the truck and the kind of maintenance needed.

Generally, commercial truck companies follow preventive maintenance which means maintenance tasks are performed on a scheduled basis (<u>Preventive Maintenance Checklist</u>common tips for Trucks and Fleets, 2021) (<u>Best practices for establishing a fleet preventive</u> maintenance (PM) program, 2021) (A Fleet Manager's guide to Preventive Maintenance for Semi Trucks, 2021) (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021). Similar to airline maintenance, maintenance checks for trucks are also divided into Check A, B, C and D (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021). Check A consists of general safety checks and inspection of the truck such as brakes, tires, lights, and fluids (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021) (Fleet Maintenance, 2021). Check B and C are more extensive than Check A and require in-depth checks of the engine (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021) (Fleet Maintenance, 2021). Check C occurs every 11-12 months, it is an annual check for any engine or component inspection or replacement (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021) (Fleet Maintenance, 2021). Each of these checks occurs at specific intervals as they are part of scheduled maintenance. There are many other checks like Yard checks or checks in Inspection Lane associated with the maintenance of trucks (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021).

Maintenance records are kept to ensure the proper functioning of machine parts and to evaluate their performance. Information about previous maintenance records and next planned scheduled maintenance about every truck in a large fleet is a difficult but necessary task. Along with the work of keeping and updating maintenance records, there is also an opportunity cost of downtime for several scheduled tasks (A Fleet Manager's guide to Preventive Maintenance for Semi Trucks, 2021). Generally, in (any) trucking industry, average downtime costs \$260,000 (Preventive Maintenance of the truck, factors like labor costs, environment, fuel efficiency also play an important factor.

Maintenance strategies have a direct impact on the business (<u>Pinjala et al., 2006</u>). Companies are always looking for better and controlled maintenance systems with fewer expenses (<u>Pinjala et al.</u>,

<u>2006</u>). The importance of condition-based maintenance in the trucking industry will be described. Condition-based maintenance is a dynamic approach to maintenance before a breakdown happens. It relies on real-time sensor measurements to indicate the condition of the system. An initial cost is involved in adapting the condition-based maintenance and regulate it. To further explore condition-based maintenance in the trucking industry, data is collected from the company TFI International Inc to perform real options analysis.

4.4 Scenario Analysis

Airlines and trucks are highly regulated, they are capital, labor, and safety intensive. The decision to assess the maintenance of their assets is an important strategic decision in a company. The maintenance expenses are part of operating expenses which hold a greater part in the value of a company's profit. For the analysis, a very important consideration is that both the industries follow a condition-based maintenance. Other factors of operating expenses can be materials and services, direct maintenance personnel expenses, depreciation, impairment, intangible assets, etc. Please note, many other elements are included in operating expenses which are ignored as the study focuses on maintenance costs.

In simpler words, it is considered:

Profit = Revenue – Operating Expenses (maintenance Expenses + other factors)

4.5 Scenario 1

No non-regulated (extra measures or untimely) maintenance is carried out. Equipment is used in the same condition.

For the safety, continuous and appropriate working of the trucks and airlines, they have specifically regulated maintenance checks that are in place for the proper running of the engine. But sometimes, with regular maintenance checks such as Check A, B, or C, sometimes, situations give rise to unplanned maintenance. These untimely maintenance measures affect companies on a large scale, by interrupting their service, extra downtime, extra labor, and hence, extra costs. In this scenario, it is assumed that the system follows condition-based maintenance, along with regulated checks and no non-regulated/unplanned maintenance will be performed, which means the equipment will be used until it breaks.

The decision-making in this scenario will be affected by the following factors:

1. An important aspect here is the risk of safety. However, the system follows condition-based maintenance, which monitors the system continuously and indicates the working of the system (with the help of sensors or temperature, etc.) and therefore, makes the risk of safety of the vehicle, goods, or labor negative.

2. There will be an extra cost of adding a condition-based maintenance system to the equipment, but that cost would be comparatively less than the cost of untimely maintenance.

3. Here, the machine/part is utilized until it breaks, that is, there will be continued use of equipment. It may lead to no or very minimum residual value of the equipment.

4. No non-regulated maintenance leads to no extra downtime of the truck. Therefore, more availability of the equipment, more usage to generate more profit.

5. Using the equipment until it breaks, might involve performance risks of the equipment. However, monitoring through condition-based maintenance will reduce that risk.

4.6 Scenario 2

Only replacement of the equipment (parts of the system) will be carried out

Maintenance tasks ensure the availability of the equipment for appropriate usage. Repairs and replacements both are part of the maintenance activity, but this scenario focuses only on the replacement which means, instead of using the equipment until it breaks (scenario 1), here an immediate replacement of the part is performed. The system is considered to follow condition-based maintenance; therefore, the regular functioning of the system is monitored.

The following factors will affect the decision-making in this scenario:

1. There will be an opportunity cost of the lost production during the replacement of the part. The set-up/replacement time of the new part will make the aircraft/truck unavailable to use during that period, hence reduced time for its usage.

2. During the set-up time of new equipment, the company is losing the availability of vehicle to generate profit. The setting of the new part will require downtime and labor costs. If the new part operates differently, a small training will be needed by the operators. Hence, leading to an overall increase in the costs.

3. One of the important risks in this scenario is the financial risk involving the long-term debts and liquidity of the assets. As no repairs are done, the replacement with the new part may increase the lifespan of the equipment. It may also have a positive impact on the residual value of the aircraft/truck.

4.7 Scenario 3

Maintenance tasks are performed when needed

Here, the performance and maintenance of the truck are only regulated by condition-based maintenance instead of regulated maintenance checks. One of the many advantages of condition-based maintenance is the regular monitoring of the equipment, therefore, if any repair, replacement, oil change, etc. is indicated; the equipment will undergo maintenance it needs and gets back in service. As it is not preventive maintenance, the immediate decision on the maintenance may lead to some risks and extra costs.

The following factors are impacted in the decision making of scenario 3:

1. The unplanned repair and replacement might be done by possibly counterfeit parts and unverified procedures.

2. As the counterfeit parts are used to perform the needed maintenance. There is a possibility that those parts will need more unexpected maintenance in the future.

3. Unexpected maintenance may increase maintenance costs, labor costs, increase the unavailability of the truck, leading to an increase in operating costs.

4.8 Scenario 4

Maintenance with new technologies

The above three scenarios describe the condition of the aircraft/truck, their costs, maintenance scenarios along with the affected present and future factors qualitatively. In the following scenario, real options are explored when new technological opportunities in the future are available. Scenario 4 is performed on both WestJet Airlines and TFI International separately. Both companies' analyses are divided into two phases.

4.9 WestJet Airlines

Phase 1: Introduction, Data collection, NPV, Sensitivity Analysis and Tornado Diagram

WestJet Airlines is a Canadian airline founded in 1994 (WestJet About Us, 2020). It is a public company and is headquartered in Calgary, Canada (WestJet About Us, 2020). This company began as a low-cost airline but today, it is the second-largest air carrier in Canada (WestJet About Us, 2020). These airlines offer scheduled flights, travel packages, and charter and cargo services (WestJet About Us, 2020). The scheduled airline transportation services are offered in North America, Central America, Mexico, the Caribbean, and Europe (WestJet About Us, 2020). WestJet's public financial records from the year 2014-2018 (WestJet Annual Financial Reports, 2014-2018) will be studied and used to analyze this study.

The following were the considerations and assumptions applied in the analysis for WestJet Airlines. Any changes in the assumptions will be mentioned in the specific section of this chapter. The general assumptions for DCF/NPV are:

- 1. All the financial data was collected from the public financial records of the WestJet airlines from the year 2014- 2018 (WestJet Annual Financial Reports, 2014-2018).
- 2. To calculate cash flow statements, the record of revenue and operating income were only considered. All other factors were ignored in the calculation. This was done to simplify the calculations in the work.
- 3. The Year 2014 was taken as year 0 for the calculation of net present value and a cash flow statement of 5 years is formed from the records of the year 2014 to 2018 (WestJet Annual Financial Reports, 2014-2018). The record from the year 2014-2018 is considered on the availability of the records of both the companies to have a similar timeline for comparative study.
- 4. Weighted average cost of capital was considered as 7% (Economic performance of the airline industry, 2018) (Economic performance of the airline industry, 2019) (Gibson, 2010). The estimate of the cost of capital is also sometimes used as a discount rate to calculate present values because in the airline industry there are some subjective estimates. From the economic performance of the airline industry by IATA for the year 2018 and 2019 (Economic performance of the airline industry, 2018) (Economic performance of the airline industry, 2019), it was observed that the value of WACC from the year was nearly between 6-8% It is obvious that over the years there had been some changes in the value of WACC but to simplify the analysis, a constant value was considered.
- 5. The value of 'Revenue' is taken from the financial reports of all the years, and it consists of guest revenue, interest income, charter, and others <u>(WestJet Annual Financial Reports,</u>

<u>2014-2018</u>). However, for the net present value analysis, net revenue is calculated by subtracting the expenses from the revenue.

- Minimum acceptable rate of return was considered as 11%. This value is considered from the average value of ROIC from the financials of WestJet Airlines (WestJet Annual <u>Financial Reports, 2014-2018</u>).
- 7. Operating income considered for the analysis consists of aircraft fuel, airport operations, flight operations, and navigational changes, sales and distribution, marketing, general and administration, depreciation and amortization, aircraft leasing, inflight, maintenance, and employee profit share (WestJet Annual Financial Reports, 2014-2018).
- 8. The analysis does not take into account the change in the size of the fleet as each aircraft has different age, type, and size. Real options will be analyzed only on 10% of the fleet because the condition and age of the aircraft play an important factor to retrofit an aging aircraft with future real options. Also, as the future real options are new and developing, it is only strategic, to invest in a part of the fleet. The change in type and size of the aircplanes is not mentioned because of limited information from the financial reports.
- 9. The analysis performed will be done only on operating income, not on maintenance expenses as the parameters involved in the analysis affect total operational costs. Therefore, to provide a larger viewpoint on the changes in the costs and profits, real options will be performed on operating income, although cash flow from operations would be preferred for a conventional analysis.

4.10 Base-Case DCF

Discounted cash flow for WestJet airlines is considered as a base case for the analysis where all the earlier assumptions are applied. The calculation assumes that there will be no change in MARR and WACC over the years. Also, this calculation does not take into account government or environmental regulations. Despite some unreliability, the values of DCF and NPV were considered as base cases in this study.

| Year | | FV | PV | |
|------|---|---------------|---------------|--|
| | | (In millions) | (In millions) | |
| 2014 | 0 | -475 | -475 | |
| 2015 | 1 | 569.75 | 513.28 | |
| 2016 | 2 | 440.1 | 357.19 | |
| 2017 | 3 | 438.96 | 320.96 | |
| 2018 | 4 | 155 | 102.1 | |
| · | | 1128.81 | 818.5 | |
| | | Income | NPV | |
| | | | | |
| | | MARR | 11% | |
| | | WACC | 7% | |

Table 1: Base Case DCF of WestJet Airlines

DCF generates a positive NPV, however, "timing option" or in other words "option to wait and defer on making decisions" requires a large investment decision. The values of MARR and WACC are assumed to be constant for the analysis, but these factors are affected by the market changes. Also, the values of these parameters have important impacts on the investment decision as they can influence the profit and costs associated with the future options. Therefore, a well-thought sensitivity analysis is performed to explore the range of probabilities. A sensitivity analysis is chosen over Monte-Carlo simulation because of the lack of information. The values can change based on the development of technology, demand, competition, socio-economic, and many other factors Also, operating expenses, fleet conditions, regulatory changes, fuel prices have a direct effect on the value of gross revenue. The reality would be more complicated and different as it would have many associated costs of implementation, development, training the employees, promotion, production, maintenance, and other operating costs. The values are assumed to give a perspective on the parameters for the company to achieve an acceptable set of NPV values for the future. Three conditions were created and analyzed. Each condition with an upside and downside case. The following are the three conditions:

1. Net revenue was increased and decreased by 20%.

2. Costs were decreased by 10% and increased by 40%.

3. MARR was increased and decreased by 2%.

These conditions were assumed to perform the sensitivity analysis. These values are interrelated and interdependent. The value of revenue depends on the cost of technology and its implementation. Therefore, for possible sensitivity analysis, a change of 20% was considered for revenue. The value of MARR was not changed to a greater degree, as it is generally more regulated. The change in costs was increased to 40%, as there are many direct and indirect costs associated with the growing company but a case of a decrease of 10% in the costs was also considered as an upside case. The table below shows the sensitivity analysis of WestJet Airlines.

| | Expected NPV | | | Input | | |
|-----------|--------------|---------|--------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Variable | Downside | Upside | Range | Downside | Upside | Base Case |
| Costs | 111.23 | 995.6 | 884.37 | 26,999 | 17,356.50 | 19,285 |
| MARR | 773.61 | 866.97 | 93.36 | 13% | 9% | 11% |
| Revenue | 559.98 | 1077.47 | 517.49 | 17,091.20 | 25,636.80 | 21,364 |
| CF Year o | -665 | -427.5 | 237.5 | -665 | -427.5 | -475 |
| CF Year 1 | 307.97 | 615.94 | 307.97 | 341.85 | 683.7 | 513.28 |
| CF Year 2 | 214.33 | 428.66 | 214.33 | 264.06 | 528.12 | 357.19 |
| CF Year 3 | 192.66 | 385.33 | 192.67 | 263.37 | 526.75 | 320.96 |
| CF Year 4 | 61.26 | 122.52 | 61.26 | 93 | 186 | 102.1 |

Table 2: Sensitivity Analysis of WestJet Airlines

A major limitation of the analysis and the results is that they are based on assumed values that may not be accurate. There can be errors in estimation and assumptions and negligence of many parameters, however, the analysis still generates a certain set of values for decision-makers to understand the options and alternatives for similar conditions. The results from the sensitivity analysis are represented in a tornado diagram.



Figure 2: Tornado Diagram Range of NPV Results of WestJet Airlines

Phase 2: RO problem framing, modelling and analysis, Reporting of the analysis

Airline maintenance practices depend mostly on the age of the aircraft. As the age of the aircraft increases, the maintenance checks get heavier resulting in increased maintenance costs which leads to extra downtime and more labor costs. With research and development and new technology options, there will be new kinds of engines, different kinds of materials, and equipment that might make the system run better in the future. With the new technology option, there will be associated costs and risks, which gives rise to the analysis with the real options approach. As the system is under condition-based maintenance, it will be easier for the management to make a better strategic maintenance decision for a delayed period. The amalgamation of real options analysis with condition-based maintenance will rise to an approach that will help the company to have the pliability to have options to increase the overall value of their profits.

Out of the maintenance checks A, B, C, and D, Check D is considered as the heavy check (Saltoğlu et al., 2016). An airplane undergoes Check D two to three times in its lifespan. It usually happens every 6-10 years with a downtime of 2 months. The cost of Check D is also the highest expense in maintenance practices and can vary up to 4-6 million (Ackert, 2010). Check D is one of the mandatory checks that an aircraft goes through in its lifespan. However, once an aircraft reaches the point of maintenance to perform check d third time which is around 22-24 years of its lifespan, decision-makers should have an option to choose whether to undergo this heavy maintenance with heavy costs. This maintenance practice also decides the condition of the aircraft and therefore, plays an important part in the lifespan of the aircraft. These maintenance costs notably impact the operational expenses of the company which further affects the generation of revenue. Therefore, decision-makers should have a real option- An option to Choose before investing in heavy maintenance.

Options to choose can be an option to abandon the aircraft (retire), an option to lease/buy new aircraft, option to wait to implement new technology. These real options are assessed based on the current performance of the aircraft, estimated cost of the chosen option, expected revenue generation. These decisions are made in advance by the management, as retiring an aircraft or leasing a new aircraft, or adopting a new technology require huge capital investments. The 'Option to Choose' is determined to maximize the profits and minimize the maintenance expenses. However, a major limitation of the study as mentioned previously is the limited information.

Therefore, particulars about the number of aircraft, the type of aircraft, the type of maintenance for each aircraft, downtime for the specific maintenance for the aircraft, labor hours for the specific maintenance of the aircraft, cost of maintenance for specific aircraft, residual value, the value of new or leased aircraft from the WestJet airlines were not found.

To ensure proper safety and usage of the aircraft, the aging aircraft requires the third heavy maintenance Check D routinely. Hence, the cost of maintenance, the downtime required for maintenance tasks, and labor hours will be high for the maintenance of aging aircraft. Therefore, a large increase in the total cost of maintenance will be noted. A huge increase in maintenance costs will result in a substantial increase in operating expenses.

One of the options to avoid the large increase in the maintenance cost on aging aircraft is that the aging aircraft should retire in the same year and a beneficial residual value of the aircraft could be obtained. There will be no heavy maintenance costs leading to no downtime and no labor costs. The saved costs and the residual money from the aircraft could be used as some capital to buy/lease a new aircraft. The leased aircraft could be new or in the early years of the aircraft's lifespan. It is noted that a new aircraft is not only leased for the maintenance scenario (as mentioned above), but they could be leased when there are new technological/ technical/design developments in the airline industry. Also, when the company decides the business expansion-increase in the fleet size, then also new airplanes are leased.

Another option could be to invest in new aircraft with better technology and fuel options for the company's future growth. Some of the benefits of new technology can be better fuel efficiency with new design and less maintenance and therefore, reduced costs. It will require less maintenance for over next 6-8 years compared to an aging aircraft and thus, low operating costs. Option to

Choose can be used as a strategic tool by the decision-makers to value the future decisions with various aspects of technology, market shift, expansion, and many financial decisions.

The decision-making in this scenario will depend on the following factors:

1. Major maintenance cost of heavy Check D was saved.

2. No extensive labor hours and downtime for the aircraft which was retired.

3. Early retirement of the old aircraft gave rise to new opportunities of buying or leasing aircraft in new/better conditions and new design and technology.

4. New aircraft will be highly equipped and will require less maintenance for the next 6-8 years.

5. A new leasing cost gave rise to an increase in the annual expenses. A lease can be a short-term lease or a long-term lease depending on the aircraft financing guidelines.

4.11 Timing Option

One of the important aspects of real options is that they provide flexibility to the management by quantifying the financial options theory to values (Lipsett, 2021). Therefore, Investment in a new aircraft with new/better technology was modified to an approach of a "timing" option. The timing option consists of waiting and learning about the new trends, resolving the uncertainty before investing in the new technology (Lipsett, 2021). In this scenario, before making a strategic decision to choose a real option, the company decides to wait another 2 years to invest in the new technology. When the company decides to wait to invest in new technology, the current aircraft would have to undergo minimum maintenance tasks to ensure its safety and usage for the next 2 years. As mentioned earlier, this scenario analysis is performed assuming that the industries

follow condition-based maintenance. Therefore, the proper functioning of the aging aircraft will be monitored regularly. Many factors are driving this decision, the most important of them is the cost of maintenance tasks and the residual value of the airplane. In this study, it is assumed that the aging aircraft will be used for the next 2 years with condition-based maintenance while exploring the new technology option. The wait of two years' time is a strategic decision by the company. In a two-year time, companies can explore if there are similar options in the market with improved costs and efficiencies. The costs claimed by their vendor are worth it or there is an option to decrease by market competitions. The certifications, testing, required for the new technology should take the approximate same time.

4.12 Real Options Analysis: Deferral

Assumptions and considerations for ROA

The option to defer making a decision or the timing of an option's investment decision is now explored using the real-option analysis method based on incremental cash flow.

In the case of an airline, if Check D is not performed and the wait option is considered, then some maintenance cost will be required to use the airplane for the next two years. The value of maintenance cost is considered as 2 million for the next two years. The value of 2 million is considered from the range of costs for check D, which varies from 4 million to 6 million as mentioned previously (Ackert, 2010). As Check D is not performed but some maintenance is required to use the aging airplane for the next 2 years, costing 30%-50% of the costs of Check D.

In the next two years, the number of airplanes considered for investing in new technology may vary. There will be the cost of implementation, training costs, and other operating costs. As there is no exact value of the future opportunity, and it is an investment option, assumptions and estimations are made to perform the analysis. For this calculation, the estimated cost of new technology is assumed as one million per aircraft. The assumption of the cost of the new technology in the airline industry is a tricky concept. Large companies invest millions and billions for a new development in the field, which makes it difficult to predict a value per aircraft at a development stage. Market research was performed to study new technological developments in the airline industry. According to the research, concepts like advanced inflight connectivity, facial recognition for biometrics, sustainable fuel, automated assistance, internet of things (IOT), autonomous travel are some of the popular technological trends in airline industry (12 technology trends for airlines and airports to focus in 2020, 2021) (How New Technology Will Impact <u>Airlines in The Next Decade, 2021</u>). From the research, it was found that the International Airlines Group invested \$400 million to develop sustainable fuel in the next 20 years (How <u>New Technology Will Impact Airlines in The Next Decade, 2021</u>). In another reference, it was noted that the cost of electric regional aircraft was between \$5 million - \$10 million (Elizabeth J. Howell Hanano, 2021). Similarly, US based airline, Cape Air has decided to buy all electric passenger plane for \$4 million per aircraft (Inside a \$4 million electric plane, the first full-size, all electric passenger aircraft in the world, 2021). It was found that the cost to develop a smart integration device from IOT is minimum \$50,000 (Mariia Lozhko, 2021), which leads to higher costs in airlines. Another source stated that in the year 2013 a cost of 1.37 million was allocated to test world's first IOT integration at London City Airport (10 stellar real-life examples of loT taking flight in aviation, 2021). Therefore,

from various mentioned references, an average cost of new technology was considered as 1 million per aircraft for the analysis.

• The cost to retrofit an existing aircraft depends on the type of changes done in the existing aircraft. According to <u>Peter B. Coddington, (1993)</u>, the cost of retrofitting Boeing 727- 200 is 10.1 M where modifications considered were replacing two side engines into one center engine, cutting fuel costs, and increasing flight performance, and some other changes for the cockpit. Also, as per Boeing, retrofitting an aircraft to carry packages instead of people can cost up to 30 M (<u>Boeing Jumbo 747s get Extended Life as Airfreight Haulers, 2021</u>). According to a market survey (<u>Air India's Boeing 777 flies out for retrofit as VVIP plane, 2021</u>) the cost of the retro fitment of a Boeing 777-300 was allocated as 20 M. The aircraft was modified for VIP enclosures, a press conference room, on-board wi-fi, among other applications. In these references, the type of aircraft and the kind of retrofit are different, therefore, the cost to modify/retrofit an aircraft varies on the type of changes executed in the aircraft. **For this study, the cost of retrofit is assumed as 10 M per aircraft**. These costs also include the installation and integration of new technology in the aircraft.

As mentioned above, the cost of new technology is 1 M. **Hence, the value of a total of 11 M is** calculated as an assumption for RO analysis.

As the technology is new, and there are associated costs and risks, it is strategic to invest only in a few aircraft of the existing fleet. Also, for the company's current operations, most of the fleet should be in use. For the execution of this analysis, it is considered that the company invests in new technology in 10% of its fleet. The implementation of 10% of the fleet is a strategic decision as mentioned in the assumptions. An important factor for the implementation is the age and condition of the aircraft. Also, 10% is a small fraction to invest and explore the worth of the new technology.

WestJet's total fleet is 123 planes, which makes 12 planes to retrofit with new technological modification. Therefore, the total value for real options analysis is considered as 11M * 12 planes= 132 M.

For the RO analysis, an important calculation is the value of the multiplication factors u and d. From the binomial lattice approach, the upswing value, u, is always a value above 1, while the downswing value d, is always less than 1. To calculate the values for innovative technology projects for an early stage is challenging and volatile. Hence, the values of upswing and downswing are considered as u=1.5 and d=0.67. These values are considered on the basis that the new technology has the potential of generating 50% of the positive values, however, there is always a fraction of associated costs and risks leading to the value of downswing.

The entire proposition of strategic RO application is to drive the value of new technology/projects with time. As the company decides to wait for 2 years, to invest in new technology, the RO analysis performed on incremental cash flow, considered income for 2 years only (the year 2015 & 2016). The table below shows the incremental cash flow considered for real option valuation.
Table 3: Real Option Valuation of WestJet Airlines

| Year | | FV | PV |
|------|---|---------------|---------------|
| | | (In millions) | (In millions) |
| 2014 | 0 | -475 | -475 |
| 2015 | 1 | 569.75 | 532.47 |
| 2016 | 2 | 440.1 | 384.4 |
| 2017 | 3 | | |
| 2018 | 4 | | |
| | | | |
| | | MARR | 11% |
| | | WACC | 7% |

The calculations of the considered real options for the next two years from the incremental cash flow, with the upswing and downswing values, are shown in figure 3.



Figure 3: Real Options Valuation of WestJet Airlines

Value of Income at the end of year 1 and year 2 are positive, which is an indicator of positive investment, leading to "proceed" decisions. But there are associated costs with the investment, therefore, to understand the value of the option exercised, the cost of new technology (132 M) needs to be subtracted from the values at the end of year 1 and year 2 to time zero, and net present value is calculated considering the weighted probability of best-case as 65% and worst case at 35%. The best-case probability is considered as 65% because the new technology with condition-based maintenance will help increase better performance, fuel efficiency, reduced costs, and eventually higher profits. However, Heavy investment in a new technology comes with associated costs, market risks and competition, business conditions. Therefore, it is important to consider both best-case and worst-case scenarios for the RO analysis. The figure below explains the calculation performed to evaluate the exercised real option.



Figure 4: Back Calculation of Real Options of WestJet Airline

In this analysis, prelim investment is not considered because the existing aircraft is retrofitted. However, there were some costs of maintenance as mentioned before, of the amount 2 million. Therefore, the value of the option will be 1055- 2= 1053 million. As we can see from the net present value on the incremental cash flow and real options analysis, following the "timing" option or "deferral" option leads to a positive impact for the company. In other words, investing in the future technology seems a promising option to generate more profits for the company.

For a comparative study on the importance of condition-based maintenance and implementation of real options for future investment options, scenario 4 will be performed on TFI International Inc with similar assumptions and estimations.

4.13 TFI International Inc.

Phase 1: Introduction, Data collection, NPV, Sensitivity Analysis and Tornado Diagram

TFI International Inc. is a Canadian transport and logistics company that operates through four segments across Canada, the United States, and Mexico (TFI International, 2021) (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019). Its four segments are package and courier, Less-Than-Truckload, Truckload, and Logistics (TFI International, 2021). It was founded in 1957 as a small trucking company based in Quebec (TFI International, 2021). It was incorporated in 1985 and the name was changed to "Cabano" (TFI International, 2021). In 1992, it was renamed Kingsway and now, it is known as TFI International (since 1999) (TFI International, 2021). The growth of this company is based on the complete acquisitions and management of the small trucking companies, which are further converted as its subsidiaries (TFI International, 2021) (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019). For this study, the public financial records of TFI Inc. from the year 2015 to the year 2019 (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019) will be studied and used to conduct real options analysis.

The following were the assumptions applied to perform the analysis. Any changes in the assumptions will be mentioned in the specific section of the study. The general assumptions for DCF/NPV are:

- All the financial data was collected from the public records of TFI Inc. from the year 2015 to 2019 (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019).
- 2. To calculate cash flow statements, the record of revenue and operating income were considered only. All other factors were ignored in the calculation. This was done to simplify the calculations in the work.

- For the record of revenue, the value considered in the study is the value of revenue with the fuel surcharge from the public financial records of TFI International Inc (TFI Annual <u>Financial Reports, 2015-2019</u>).
- 4. Operating income considered in the study include the costs of a) material and service expenses, which are composed of the costs of independent contractors and vehicle operation; b) personnel expenses; c) depreciation, amortization of property; d) gain or loss on disposition of property and equipment and assets held for sale; e) other operating expenses, related to costs of office's and terminal's rent, taxes, heating, telecommunications, maintenance and security and other administrative expenses (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019).
- 5. The Year 2015 was taken as year 0 for the calculation of net present value and a cash flow statement of 5 years is formed from the records of the year 2015 to 2019 (TFI Annual Financial Reports, 2015-2019). These records were considered only on the availability of the public records of the company.
- 6. Weighted average cost of capital was considered as 9% (<u>TFI International WACC, 2021</u>). The estimate of the cost of capital is also used as a discount rate to calculate present values because of various subjective estimates. It is obvious that over the years there have been changes in the value of WACC but to simplify the analysis, a constant value is considered for the analysis.
- 7. The value of MARR was considered as 12% from the average value of the return of investments for the company for the year 2020 (CSI Market- Transport & Logistics Industry, 2021). No changes in the value of MARR are considered over the years. A constant value of 12% is used throughout the analysis.
- 8. All other assumptions are the same as the WestJet airlines.

4.14 Base Case DCF

Discounted cash flow is considered as a base case for real options analysis. The real options analysis is carried out using operating income. The calculation assumes there will be no change in the value of WACC or MARR over the years. Any changes in the government or environmental regulations, taxation, fuel costs are ignored in this calculation. One of the major limitations of this study is the limited information. From the TFI Inc. financials, values of revenue and operating income were collected. The details of the maintenance, particulars on the type and number of commercial trucks, the age and the maintenance check performed on the commercial truck, downtime or labor required, the residual value of the truck, costs of the new truck were not collected from the TFI Inc. financials. The table below shows the base case discounted cash flow of TFI International where all the earlier assumptions are applied.

| Year | | FV | PV |
|------|---|---------------|---------------|
| | | (In millions) | (In millions) |
| 2015 | 0 | -276.5 | -276.5 |
| 2016 | 1 | 258.3 | 230.62 |
| 2017 | 2 | 243.72 | 194.35 |
| 2018 | 3 | 430.6 | 306.69 |
| 2019 | 4 | 511.66 | 325.27 |
| | | 1167.78 | 780.45 |
| | | Income | NPV |
| | | | |
| | | MARR | 12% |
| | | WACC | 9% |

Table 4: Base Case DCF of TFI International

Like the WestJet Airlines analysis, to explore the possibilities of net present values, a sensitivity analysis is carried out in the following section. The reality of the future development will vary in costs and implementation and therefore, the value of revenue will be different. The values are assumed to give an outlook on net present values and to execute an acceptable analysis. To perform sensitivity analysis, three conditions were considered. These conditions were analyzed with an upside and downside case. The following are the three conditions:

1. Net Revenue was increased and decreased by 20%.

2. Costs were increased by 40% and decreased by 10%.

3. MARR was increased and decreased by 2%

Assumptions of these conditions are considered to perform a sensitivity analysis to provide a viewpoint on real options application. The change in costs was increased by 40% and an upside case of a decrease in costs was considered as 10% only. The change in the value of revenue will also change in the future, therefore an upside and downside case of both 20% was considered. The value of MARR is highly regulated and does not vary to a greater degree in the next few years. Therefore, an increase and decrease of 2% are only considered. A major limitation of this analysis is that range of the values is assumed, there can be errors in assumptions and estimation, and therefore, they may not be accurate. Many parameters are ignored in this calculation, which will affect the analysis. However, the analysis still generates values to provide merit to understand the sensitivities in the values for decision-makers and possibilities under similar conditions.

| | Expected NPV | | | Input | | |
|-----------|--------------|---------|--------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Variable | Downside | Upside | Range | Downside | Upside | Base Case |
| Costs | 247.07 | 913.79 | 666.72 | 29,927.80 | 19,239.30 | 21,377.00 |
| MARR | 731.56 | 832.75 | 101.19 | 14% | 10% | 12% |
| Revenue | 569.06 | 991.84 | 422.78 | 20,788.20 | 25,407.80 | 23,098 |
| CF Year o | -387.1 | -248.85 | 138.25 | -387.1 | -248.85 | -276.5 |
| CF Year 1 | 138.37 | 276.75 | 138.38 | 154.98 | 309.96 | 230.62 |
| CF Year 2 | 116.61 | 233.22 | 116.61 | 146.23 | 292.46 | 194.35 |
| CF Year 3 | 184.01 | 368.03 | 184.02 | 258.36 | 516.72 | 306.69 |
| CF Year 4 | 195.16 | 390.33 | 195.17 | 306.99 | 613.99 | 325.27 |

Table 5: Sensitivity Analysis of TFI International

The results of the range of NPV from sensitivity analysis of TFI international Inc. are represented in a tornado diagram in figure 5.



Figure 5: Tornado Diagram Range of NPV Results of TFI International

Phase 2: RO problem framing, modelling and analysis, Reporting of the analysis

The maintenance needs of equipment depend on various factors like usage, fuel, environment, etc. and one of the important factors is the age of the vehicle. From all the regulated maintenance checks (Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, 2021) (Fleet Maintenance, 2021), Check C and D are most extensive and require more downtime, heavy repairs or replacements, and therefore, extra costs. With technological developments, there might be new maintenance strategies, new and better engines, and equipment that may make the system perform better in the future and require less maintenance. In this study, it is considered that the system has condition-based maintenance, therefore, the safety and performance risk of the truck is monitored, which gives the management a choice to think about new developments. Investing in new technology, buying a newer model of the truck, waiting on a new and developing

maintenance method, etc. are some of the strategic decisions that a company should make to have fewer costs and better profits. "Real options with condition-based maintenance", this combination gives the company a possibility to weigh the future options without discontinuing the current operation of the vehicle.

The cost of a new commercial truck varies from \$50,000 to \$200,000 (How much does it cost to start a Trucking company, 2021). The yearly maintenance and repair costs of a truck are estimated to be \$15,000 - \$18,000 (What are your Options to Cover the Cost of Semi-Truck Repair, 2021) with an additional cost of annual tire expenses from \$4,000 - \$6,000 ((What are your Options to <u>Cover the Cost of Semi-Truck Repair, 2021</u>). From the above values, for the real options analysis, the maintenance cost of a commercial truck annually is considered as \$20,000. Therefore, in five to seven years, the maintenance costs will vary between \$100,000 -\$140,000. Approximately, a commercial vehicle's fuel costs \$70,000 annually (What are your Options to Cover the Cost of Semi-Truck Repair, 2021), which makes it to \$350,000 - \$490,000 in five to seven years. The need for maintenance and maintenance costs will increase as the age of the truck increases. Also, the cost of fuel is volatile, therefore, an overall increase in the operating costs of the company will be noted. Hence, from the above values, only maintenance expenses and fuel expenses cost the company between \$450,000 - \$630,000. Other expenses like depreciation, administrative costs, labor, insurance, etc. are not considered in the approximated costs. In five to seven years, there may be newer and better models of the vehicle, or new technological development for better fuel efficiency might be there. Therefore, management should have an option to choose to continue the usage of the vehicle after five years or retire the vehicle and buy/lease a new vehicle or invest in a new technological development. These decisions require huge capital investments and therefore, should be made or revised in advance. For real options analysis, it is considered that the vehicle follows condition-based

maintenance. After an approximate **cost of \$500,000** from five years of maintenance expenses and fuel expenses, along with condition-based maintenance costs and others, it is proposed that the company decides to **wait for 2 years** to invest in new technological/design development for the commercial vehicle, considering the "timing" option from many real options.

4.15 Real Options Analysis: Deferral

Assumptions and considerations for ROA

The option to wait and defer in making decisions or the "timing" option's investment decision will be further explored by the real options analysis on the incremental cash flow of TFI International. If the wait option is considered, some maintenance costs will be required to use the truck for the next two years.

- The value of maintenance cost is considered as \$20,000 as mentioned previously.
- For the analysis, an average value of investment/future technology is considered as \$30,000 per vehicle. This value is assumed from the following references obtained from the market research of the trucking industry. From the market research, it was noted that some of the new trends in the trucking industry (Top 8 Transportation Industry Trends in 2021, 2021) are cloud-based systems adoption, integrated, frictionless travel, self-driving trucks, blockchain in logistics, address delivery, etc. In another reference (New study focuses on timeline and cost of autonomous trucks, 2021), it was found that an extra cost of \$23,000 will make trucks capable of driving themselves. Similarly, another reference (The price tag for autonomous trucks still

<u>unclear, 2021</u>) stated that the autonomous vehicle operation will take place in 5 stages where each stage value can vary from \$4000 - \$7000, leading to total value of operation between \$20,000 -\$35,000, with an extra cost of \$5000 for automatic transmission. Another market source (<u>Cost of TMS Software: Comparing Cloud vs Licensed Models,</u> <u>2021</u>), stated that the cost of transportation management system can vary between 10,000 to 250,000 for the license, with an initial and annual maintenance fee. The value can change based on demand, supply, competition, socio-economic factors, advanced technological advancements, and many other factors.

- In the next two years, the number of trucks considered for investing in new technology will vary. An important factor is the condition and age of the truck to retrofit with new technology. Similar to the WestJet airlines, 10% of the fleet is considered for the investment of the new technology. It is a strategic step for the decision-makers as there are risks associated with new opportunities. Investing and implementation of new technology in a small part of the fleet to observe and examine will be a precautionary step for any major losses.
- The cost to retrofit a commercial truck also varies from type, model, age, kind of modification done on the truck. According to (Heavy Truck Engine ECM Programming, 2021), to program electronic control modules on an old truck, the cost can vary from 1,800 to 3,000. Similarly, for a commercial truck, the cost of diesel particulate filter retrofits starts from 18,700 (Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program, 2021). Lifting a commercial truck to a higher scale costs between 10,000 to 15,000 (How Much Does It Cost To Lift A Truck?, 2021). According to (How Much Does A Class 8 Truck engine Overhaul Cost?, 2021), a certified engine overhaul can cost anywhere between 20,000 to 40,000. Another resource (Semi-Truck Engine Overhauling: What You Need to Know, 2021) from the market study mentioned that engine overhauls

can cost from 26,000 to 53,000. **Therefore, from the above references, an average value of 20,000 is considered as the cost to retrofit a commercial truck.** The cost of implementation and integration of new technology into business operations are also considered as a part of this cost.

Therefore, a total cost of 50,000 (cost to retrofit + cost of new technology) is considered for the analysis. The analysis is applied to 10% of the fleet. According to (Canada's <u>Top 100 truck fleets topped by TFI International, 2021</u>), in the year 2019, TFI had 710 straight trucks. Since TFI International operates into four different segments, the quantities of tractors, trailers are not considered here. **Therefore, the total costs considered is 50, 000 * 71 (10% of 710) = 3,550,000 million.**

 The values of upswing and downswing are the same from the WestJet Airlines' analysis, which are u=1.5 and d=0.67. Hence, from the above-mentioned values, real options analysis is performed on the incremental cash flow of TFI International. The table below shows the real option valuation of the incremental cash flow of TFI International.

| Year | | FV | PV |
|------|---|---------------|---------------|
| | | (In millions) | (In millions) |
| 2015 | 0 | -276.5 | -276.5 |
| 2016 | 1 | 258.3 | 236.97 |
| 2017 | 2 | 243.72 | 129.63 |
| 2018 | 3 | | |
| 2019 | 4 | | |
| | | | |
| | | MARR | 12% |
| | | WACC | 9% |

Table 6: Real Option Valuation of TFI International

Real option calculations for the next two years for TFI International, from the incremental cash flow, with the upswing and downswing values, are shown below in figure 6.



Figure 6: Real Options Valuation of TFI International

From the above figure, it is stated that the value of Income at the end of year 1 and year 2 are positive, which is an indicator of positive investment, leading to a "proceed" decision. But, for the real option calculation, the investment costs need to be removed to calculate the profit for a company. There a back-calculation is done in figure 7 with the weighted probability of best-case as 65% and worst case as 35%. The reasons for the quantity of the weighted probabilities are the same as for WestJet airlines. As the new technology is believed to have the potential of many advantages for a commercial truck, hence, the probability of the best case is considered greater than the worst case. The figure below explains the calculation performed to evaluate the exercised real option.



Figure 7: Back Calculation of Real Options of TFI International

To exercise the investment option in the future, the cost of current maintenance was assumed to be \$20,000 annually as mentioned in previous references. Therefore, a total of 40,000 (for two years) will be subtracted from the real option value. A final value of 447.94 million is obtained from the real options analysis which is positive. Also, from the incremental cash flow and real options results, it is observed that exercising the timing/deferral option will be profitable for the company.

4.16 Discussion of Real Options for CBM Strategy and Possible Limitations

The above-mentioned calculations can be used as an idea to support technological investment decisions that a company decides to make in the future. The cost of the idea of investing in a future technology at an early stage of development does not completely consume decision-makers. A significant analysis with a reference of future advantages and possible challenges and an estimate of finances (numbers) can provide insight to decision-makers to make plans for the company.

A crucial aspect while waiting on new technological development is the present maintenance of the aircraft/truck. Also, with the maintenance, safe working (no fatal risks) and required performance of the aircraft/vehicle is of utmost importance. These parameters are accomplished by the strengths of condition-based maintenance. Condition-based maintenance realistically allows decision-makers to strategically have long-term or short-term plans for the company without expecting an unfavorable or risky situation.

Condition-based maintenance provides a platform to explore the opportunities without committing to the future real options. Real options analysis helps to provide estimations on the future resources and outcomes. A major advantage observed from both WestJet Airlines and TFI International analysis is reduced maintenance costs (as the cost of heavy maintenance checks will be saved). However, there is a small initial cost for the implementation of condition-based maintenance. Another vital advantage observed from this analysis is the positive impact on the income, which is a good/high profit-margin associated with the recommended "timing/deferral" option. Therefore, investing in an advanced future technological option will be viewed optimistically by the decision-makers.

4.17 Limitations of the Work

The proposed framework has limitations because of the various assumptions and estimations for the analysis which undermines the quantitative approach of scenario 4. The reliability and validity of the analysis can be questioned by the decision-makers when there are exact accurate values for the real options analysis. A constant value of MARR and WACC values were assumed in the study, assumptions of the value of future technology, expected maintenance costs, the estimate of an upswing, downswing, probability of success, and failure can be argued for an informed and redefined future goal. Due to limited access to data, many associated factors were ignored from the values considered by both the companies. Taxes and inflation, equity, and financial implications were ignored for the calculations. Industry's market and operating environment were considered constant for future calculations. In all the chapters of the study, it was stressed that scenario analysis and real options analysis provide a viewpoint to decision-makers both qualitatively and quantitatively by evaluating the expected benefits and challenges of the proposed option.

The framework does not replace the essential and regulated maintenance checks but provides an alternative view to reduce maintenance costs. With development and innovation, a different technology in the market may provide a competitive approach for the option analyzed, leading to revisit the option selected by the company. An important factor in the development of new technology is its life cycle. Intellectual property licenses and certifications affect the timeline of the building technology. Technology-life cycle and its effects on the valuation of option is not taken into account in the proposed framework. The degree of the potential profits and costs will have a major influence on decision-makers in the future adoption of the evaluated option. Some companies may have other in-house tools for the evaluation of future options.

Chapter 5 Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

The aim of this study was to provide a strategic path that will allow decision-makers to have the flexibility to minimize the cost of maintenance and invest in a profitable future option for the company. The decision-making framework was developed with condition-based maintenance and real options approach. The proposed pathway in the study acts as a decision tool for the industry and is an effective way to reassess the risks, investments, costs, and assets of the company.

The framework follows the steps of the real options analysis with the traditional valuation methods of discounted cash flow and net present value. A sensitivity analysis is also performed to describe the variability in the net present values with changes in the costs, revenue, and MARR. The study shows the importance of condition-based maintenance in the industry to explore real options. The analysis helps decision-makers to make a decision from multiple choices. The important parameters for the decision-making considered in the study were operating income, revenue, technological development costs, risks, and the age of the asset.

The proposed framework was conducted on two different companies from different industries for a comparative viewpoint. The scenario was analyzed quantitatively by dividing into phase 1 and phase 2 for both companies separately. Phase one gave the details of the industry's maintenance practices with a brief introduction to the company. It was followed by the details of revenue and operating income from the public financial records of the company. The records were obtained from the availability of financial records of the companies to streamline a five-year cash flow. A discounted cash flow and net present value analysis were performed on the data obtained from the financial records along with the necessary assumptions. The results obtained from the net present value were positive. However, to provide flexibility and more information for decisionmakers, a sensitivity analysis was performed and represented in a Tornado diagram for both companies. Phase 2 discussed the "option to choose" for the companies to decide to buy/lease a new aircraft/truck, retire an aircraft/truck with a good residual value, perform the heavy maintenance checks or invest in new technology. All these conditions involve huge financial and strategic investments for a company's future. A strategic decision to wait for two years to invest in a future technology that is a "timing/deferral option" was further analyzed with an incremental cash flow for both the companies. The importance of condition-based maintenance and corresponding decision-factors, costs and risks were also analyzed qualitatively for both companies in three different maintenance scenarios as well.

Scenario one analyses the condition when no untimely maintenance is performed. The system follows condition-based maintenance and therefore provides a regulated safe operation of the equipment until it breaks. An important advantage of this scenario is no non-regulated maintenance saves the variable expenses and more availability of the aircraft/truck.

Scenario two identifies situations where an immediate replacement is carried out as opposed to scenario one. The replacement with the new part increases the lifespan of the equipment with a better residual value. However, the replacements can lead to an increase in expenses, with the unavailability of the aircraft/truck for operation.

Scenario three describes the case where an unplanned repair or replacement is performed by counterfeit parts or unverified procedures to make the system available for operation. As the system follows condition-based maintenance, the safety and regular monitoring of the equipment is achieved, however, unplanned, and unexpected repairs or replacements increase downtime, maintenance, and labor costs with an increase in the associated operating costs.

Scenario four explores the "timing/deferral" real option when there are new technological opportunities for a company. Due to limited available information for the case studies. Several estimations and assumptions were made to perform the analysis on the incremental cash flow of the industries. The valuation of the real option was analyzed as a probability of success of 65%. The value of the probability of success was decided on the potential of new technology with improved and better capabilities from the decision-makers' point of view. Finally, a positive value of income was generated from the real option calculation presenting a favorable result to wait to invest in new technology.

In conclusion, the proposed framework in the study expresses the value of flexibility to make a decision with condition-based maintenance to minimize maintenance costs and risks. It also provides a potential to explore real options for a company's future. It gives decision-makers a chance to reassess and estimate future growth options for a company. A comparative outlook to implement real options analysis for future technological advancements enhances the flexibility of decision-making. Therefore, a strategic pathway for maintenance decision-making with prospects of future technology investments is demonstrated in the study.

5.2 Recommendations for Future Work

Many improvements can be made to the limitations discussed in the previous chapter. With more information, the qualitative analysis of the scenarios should be further studied with quantitative analysis for a more refined methodology. With the new developments and innovations, other options to reduce maintenance costs can be explored. The relationship and influence of factors like fuel prices, rate of interest, market competition can be further analyzed for more detailed areas of the research. The effects and risks associated with the company's strategic decision during the wait of two years should be discussed. In this study, the real options analysis is performed only on a small part of the fleet for both the companies, a future implementation on a greater part can be conducted. However, it may require extensive detail on the fleet of the company.

The importance of residual value and its relationship with the future opportunity option could be further examined in detail. The probability of success and its associated factors should be studied in detail and a different magnitude could be considered for a more substantial strategic decision. The method can be further developed and used for accurate analysis with the detailed and precise values of MARR, WACC, fleet, operation costs, maintenance costs, type of maintenance performed, model/type of vehicle. Portfolio management and resource allocation are also steps of the real options analysis which are not conducted in this study. With further information about resources and their management from the companies, these steps can also be explored in future research.

References

10 stellar real-life examples of loT taking flight in aviation, (Date of Access: 2021, April 4), https://internetofbusiness.com/10-real-life-examples-iot-aviation/

12 technology trends for airlines and airports to focus in 2020, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://www.futuretravelexperience.com/2020/01/12-technology-trends-for-airlines-and-airports-to-focus-on-in-2020/

A Fleet Manager's guide to Preventive Maintenance for Semi Trucks, (Date of access: 2021, January 2), <u>https://www.samsara.com/guides/preventive-maintenance-checklist-for-semi-trucks</u>

Abbas, Ahmed & Flori, Ralph & Alsaba, Mortadha & Al Dushaishi, Mohammed. (2020). Application of Quantitative Risk Assessment for Optimum Mud Weight Window Design

Abbassi, R., Bhandari, J., Khan, F., Garaniya, V., & Chai, S. (2016). Developing a quantitative riskbased methodology for maintenance scheduling using Bayesian network. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 48, 235-240

Abdelli, A., Mokdad, L., & Hammal, Y. (2020). Dealing with value constraints in decision making using MCDM methods. Journal of Computational Science, 44, 101154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocs.2020.101154

Ackert, S. P. (2010). Basics of aircraft maintenance programs for financiers. Evaluation & insights of commercial aircraft maintenance programs, 1-23

Ahire, S.L., and Rana, D.S. (1995), "Selection of TQM pilot projects using an MCDM approach", International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, Vol. 12 No. 1, pp. 61-81. https://doi.org/10.1108/02656719510076258

Ahmadi, A. (2010), Aircraft scheduled maintenance programme development: decision support methodologies and tools

Air India's Boeing 777 flies out for retrofit as VVIP plane, (Date of Access: 2021, March 2), Air India's Boeing 777 flies out for retrofit as VVIP plane

Almahdi, E. M., Zaidan, A. A., Zaidan, B. B., Alsalem, M. A., Albahri, O. S., & Albahri, A. S. (2019). Mobile-based patient monitoring systems: A prioritisation framework using multi-criteria decision-making techniques. Journal of medical systems, 43(7), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-019-1339-9

Ananda, J., & Herath, G. (2009). A critical review of multi-criteria decision-making methods with special reference to forest management and planning. Ecological economics, 68(10), 2535-2548

Arunraj, N. S., & Maiti, J. (2007). Risk-based maintenance—Techniques and applications. Journal of hazardous materials, 142(3), 653-661

Arzaghi, E., Abaei, M. M., Abbassi, R., Garaniya, V., Chin, C., & Khan, F. (2017). Risk-based maintenance planning of subsea pipelines through fatigue crack growth monitoring. Engineering Failure Analysis, *79*, 928-939

Atari, S.; Bakkar, Y.; Olaniyi, E. O.; Prause, G. 2019, Real options analysis of abatement investments for sulphur emission control compliance, Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues 6(3): 1062-1087. <u>http://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2019.6.3(1)</u>

Basri, E. I., Razak, I. H. A., Ab-Samat, H., & Kamaruddin, S. (2017), "Preventive maintenance (PM) planning: a review", Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering, Vol. 23 No. 2, pp. 114-143. DOI: 10.1108/JQME-04-2016-0014

Best practices for establishing a fleet preventive maintenance (PM) program, (Date of access: 2021, January 10), Website: <u>https://www.fleetmaintenance.com/shop-operations/employees-and-training/article/12053741/best-practices-for-establishing-a-fleet-preventive-maintenance-pm-program</u>

Bhushan, N., & Rai, K. (2007). Strategic decision making: applying the analytic hierarchy process. Springer Science & Business Media.

Black, F., & Scholes, M. (2019). The pricing of options and corporate liabilities. In World Scientific Reference on Contingent Claims Analysis in Corporate Finance: Volume 1: Foundations of CCA and Equity Valuation (pp. 3-21)

Black, F., & Scholes, M. (2019). The pricing of options and corporate liabilities. In World Scientific Reference on Contingent Claims Analysis in Corporate Finance: Volume 1: Foundations of CCA and Equity Valuation (pp. 3-21)

Black, F., Scholes, M. (1973). "The pricing of options and corporate liabilities." Journal of political economy 81(3): 637-654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/260062</u>

Boeing aircraft prices 2021, (Date of access: 2021, Jan 2), https://www.statista.com/statistics/273941/prices-of-boeing-aircraft-by-type/

Boeing Jumbo 747s get Extended Life as Airfreight Haulers, (Date of access: 2021, March 18), https://www.ttnews.com/articles/boeing-jumbo-747s-get-extended-life-airfreight-haulers

Bonate, P. L. (2001). A brief introduction to Monte Carlo simulation. Clinical pharmacokinetics, 40(1), 15-22

Bowman, E. H., & Moskowitz, G. T. (2001). Real options analysis and strategic decision making. Organization science, 12(6), 772-777

Boyle, P.P. (1977). "Options: A Monte Carlo approach." Journal of financial economics. 4(3): 323-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(77)90005-8</u>

Brandão, L. E., Dyer, J. S., & Hahn, W. J. (2005). Using binomial decision trees to solve realoption valuation problems. Decision Analysis, 2(2), 69-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/deca.1050.0040</u>

Budai, G., Huisman, D., & Dekker, R. (2006). Scheduling preventive railway maintenance activities. Journal of the Operational Research Society, 57(9), 1035-1044

Campbell, J. D., Reyes-Picknell, J. V., & Kim, H. S. (2015). Uptime: Strategies for excellence in maintenance management. CRC Press

Canada's Top 100 truck fleets topped by TFI International, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://www.trucknews.com/transportation/canadas-top-100-truck-fleets-topped-by-tfi-international/1003141460/

Carras, M. A., Knowler, D., Pearce, C. M., Hamer, A., Chopin, T., & Weaire, T. (2020). A discounted cash-flow analysis of salmon monoculture and Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture in eastern Canada. Aquaculture Economics & Management, 24(1), 43-63, DOI: 10.1080/13657305.2019.1641572

Cheng, Z., Jia, X., Gao, P., Wu, S., & Wang, J. (2008). A framework for intelligent reliability centered maintenance analysis. Reliability engineering & system safety, 93(6), 806-814

Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program, (Date of Access: 2021, April),

https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environMent/air_quality/cmaq/reference/cmaq_diesel_retrofits/c maqdiesel.pdf

Copeland, T., & Tufano, P. (2004). A real-world way to manage real options. Harvard business review, 82(3), 90-99

Cost of TMS Software: Comparing Cloud vs Licensed Models, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://blog.intekfreight-logistics.com/transportation-management-software-cost-comparison

CSI Market- Transport & Logistics Industry, (Date of Access: 2021, April 4), https://csimarket.com/Industry/industry_ManagementEffectiveness.php?ind=1101&hist=4,

Dar, A. A., & Anuradha, N. (2017). One Period Binomial Model: The risk-neutral probability measure assumption and the state price deflator approach. International Journal of Mathematics and Trends and Technology, 43(4), 246-255

Dar, A. A., & Anuradha, N. (2018). Comparison: binomial model and Black Scholes model. Quantitative finance and Economics, 2(1), 230-245

Dekker, R. (1996). Applications of maintenance optimization models: a review and analysis. Reliability engineering & system safety, 51(3), 229-240

Dixit, A., & Pindyck, R. (1994), Investment under uncertainty, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ Dotoli, M., Epicoco, N., & Falagario, M. (2020). Multi-Criteria Decision Making techniques for the management of public procurement tenders: A case study. Applied Soft Computing, 88, 106064

Durst, S., Hinteregger, C., & Zieba, M. (2019). The linkage between knowledge risk management and organizational performance. Journal of Business Research, 105, 1-10, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.08.002

Dzyuma, U. (2012). Real options compared to traditional company valuation methods: possibilities and constraints in their use. Finansowy Kwartalnik Internetowy e-Finanse, 8(2), 51-68

Economic performance of the airline industry (Date of access: 2020, February 9) <u>https://www.iata.org/en/iata-repository/publications/economic-reports/airline-industry-</u>economic-performance---2018-mid-year---report/

Economic performance of the airline industry (Date of access: 2020, February 9) <u>https://www.iata.org/en/iata-repository/publications/economic-reports/airline-industry-</u>economic-performance---december-2019---report/

Elements of a successful preventive maintenance (PM) program, (Date of access: 2021, January 3), <u>https://www.jjkeller.com/learn/preventive-maintenance-program</u>

Elizabeth J. Howell Hanano, CFA, (Date of Access: 2021, April 1), Green for Take Off- Inside the Electric Airplane Industry, Website: https://www.toptal.com/finance/market-research-analysts/electric-airplanes

Fleet Maintenance, (Date of access: 2021, January 4), https://cerasis.com/fleet-maintenance/

Gibson, W. E. (2010). Aircraft investment planning and uncertainty, http://dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk/handle/1826/6864

Glasserman, P. (2004). Monte Carlo methods in financial engineering (Vol. 53, pp. xiv+-596). New York: springer

Hallerbach, W.G. and Spronk, J. (2002), The relevance of MCDM for financial decisions. J. Multi-Crit. Decis. Anal., 11: 187-195. https://doi.org/10.1002/mcda.32 Hameed, A., Khan, F., & Ahmed, S. (2016). A risk-based shutdown inspection and maintenance interval estimation considering human error. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 100, 9-21. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2015.11.011

Heavy Truck Engine ECM Programming, (Date of Access: 2021, March 14), https://www.diesellaptops.com/blogs/news/heavy-truck-engine-ecm-programming

Hölzel, N., Schilling, T., & Gollnick, V. (2014). An Aircraft Lifecycle Approach for the Cost-Benefit Analysis of Prognostics and Condition-based Maintenance based on Discrete Event Simulation

How Much Does A Class 8 Truck engine Overhaul Cost? (Date of Access: 2021, April 1), https://cagtruckcapital.com/truck-engine-overhaul-tips/

How Much Does It Cost To Lift A Truck?, (Date of Access: 2021, February 10), https://www.jdpower.com/cars/shopping-guides/how-much-does-it-cost-to-lift-a-truck

How much does it cost to start a Trucking company, (Date of access: 2021, February 21), https://www.atbs.com/knowledge-hub/trucking-blog/how-much-does-it-cost-to-start-a-trucking-company

How New Technology Will Impact Airlines in The Next Decade, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://simpleflying.com/airlines-new-technology-impact/

Hu, Q., & Zhang, A. (2015). Real option analysis of aircraft acquisition: A case study. Journal of Air Transport Management, 46, 19-29

Inside a \$4 million electric plane, the first full-size, all electric passenger aircraft in the world, (Date of Access: 2021, April 12), https://www.businessinsider.com/inside-alice-first-full-size-passenger-electric-plane-eviation-2020-10

International Atomic Energy agency. (2007). Implementation Strategies and Tools for Condition Based Maintenance at Nuclear Power Plants, IAEA-TECDOC-1551, IAEA, Vienna

Jantunen, E., Akcay, A., Campos, J., Holenderski, M. J., Kotkansalo, A., Salokangas, R., & Sharma, P. (2019). Business drivers of a collaborative, proactive maintenance solution. In the MANTIS Book: Cyber Physical System Based Proactive Collaborative Maintenance (pp. 7-35). River Publishers. DOI: 10.13052/rp9788793609846 Kang, S. B., & Létourneau, P. (2017). Modifying Real Options' Probability of Exercise

Kangas, J., Kangas, A., Leskinen, P. and Pykäläinen, J. (2001), MCDM methods in strategic planning of forestry on state-owned lands in Finland: applications and experiences. J. Multi-Crit. Decis. Anal., 10: 257-271. <u>https://doi-org./10.1002/mcda.306</u>

Khan, F. I., & Haddara, M. (2004). Risk-based maintenance (RBM): A new approach for process plant inspection and maintenance. Process safety progress, 23(4), 252-265

Knezevic, J. (1997). Systems maintainability (Vol. 1). Springer Science & Business Media

Krishnasamy, L., Khan, F., & Haddara, M. (2005). Development of a risk-based maintenance (RBM) strategy for a power-generating plant. Journal of Loss Prevention in the process industries, 18(2), 69-81

Lasloom, N. M. (2021). The inevitability of financial risks in businesses and how to overcome them: Saudi Arabia in focus. In Proceeding of the International Science and Technology Conference" FarEastCon 2020" (pp. 815-824). Springer, Singapore, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0953-4_79

Lee, C. K., Cao, Y., & Ng, K. H. (2017). Big Data Analytics for Predictive Maintenance Strategies. In H. Chan, N. Subramanian, & M. Abdulrahman (Ed.), Supply Chain Management in the Big Data Era (pp. 50-74). IGI Global. http://doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-0956-1.ch004

Lee, J., & Wang, H. (2008). New technologies for maintenance. In Complex system maintenance handbook (pp. 49-78). Springer, London

Lee, S. C. (2011). Using real option analysis for highly uncertain technology investments: The case of wind energy technology. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 15(9), 4443-4450

Leoni, L., BahooToroody, A., De Carlo, F., & Paltrinieri, N. (2019). Developing a risk-based maintenance model for a Natural Gas Regulating and Metering Station using Bayesian Network. Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries, 57, 17-24

Li, M.X. (2020) Uber Future Value Prediction Using Discounted Cash Flow Model. American Journal of Industrial and Business Management, 10, 30-44

Liyanage, J. P., Markeset, T., & Kumar, U. (2001, January 1), Value and Risk: A Basis for a Balanced Performance Assessment Criterion for Maintenance in Offshore Engineering Constructions. International Society of Offshore and Polar Engineers

Lipsett M. G., 2016, Using Risk Models to Improve Decision making and outcomes, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta

Lipsett M. G., 2018, Real Options Valuation (1), ENG M 620 Course Notes, Week 7, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta

Lipsett M.G., 2021, Real Options Valuation (1), ENGM 620 Course Notes, Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta

Mariia Lozhko, Research specialist, LANARS, (Date of Access: 2021, April 1), How Much does It Cost to Develop an loT App, Website: https://lanars.com/blog/how-much-does-it-cost-todevelop-an-iot-app,

Márquez, A.C., Moreu de León, P., Sola Rosique, A. and Gómez Fernández, J.F. (2015), "Criticality analysis for maintenance purposes: a study for complex in-service engineering assets", Quality and Reliability Engineering International, Vol. 32 No. 2, pp. 519-533

Mattar, S. J. (2017). Real Options Decision Framework for Research and Development: A Case Study on a Small Canadian High-Technology Start-Up

Balliauw Matteo, 2021, From theoretical real options models to pragmatic decision making: Required steps, opportunities and threats, Research in Transportation Economics, 101063, ISSN 0739-8859, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2021.101063

McFadden, M., & Worrells, D. S. (2012). Global outsourcing of aircraft maintenance. Journal of Aviation Technology and Engineering, 1(2), 4

Miller, L., & Bertus, M. (2005). License valuation in the aerospace industry: A real options approach. Review of Financial Economics, 14(3-4), 225-239

Mun, J. (2012). Real options analysis: Tools and techniques for valuing strategic investments and decisions (Vol. 320). John Wiley & Sons

New study focuses on timeline and cost of autonomous trucks, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://www.fleetowner.com/technology/article/21693312/new-study-focuses-on-timeline-and-cost-of-autonomous-trucks

Palma, J., Gómez de León Hijes, F.C., Martínez, M.C. and Cárceles, L.G. (2010), "Scheduling of maintenance work: a constraint-based approach", Expert Systems with Applications, Vol. 37 No. 4, pp. 2963-2973

PeriyarSelvam, U., Tamilselvan, T., Thilakan, S., & Shanmugaraja, M. (2013). Analysis on costs for aircraft maintenance. Advances in Aerospace Science and Applications, 3(3), 177-182

Peter B. Coddington. (1993). A Cost Analysis: Reengining a Boeing 727-200(Advanced) versusBuying aNewBoeing757-200,https://commons.erau.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1110&context=jaaer

Peters, L. (2016). Real options illustrated. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing

Pimentel, P., Couto, G., Tavares, A., & Oliveira, A. (2020). The impacts of real options analysis on EU co-financing policy: The case of Ponta Delgada Port in the Azores. Research in Transportation Economics, 100977

Pinjala, S. K., Pintelon, L., & Vereecke, A. (2006). An empirical investigation on the relationship between business and maintenance strategies. International journal of production economics, 104(1), 214-229

Pivorienė, A. (2017), Real Options and Discounted Cash Flow Analysis to assess strategic Investment Projects. Economics & Business, 30

Preventive Maintenance Checklist-common tips for Trucks and Fleets, (Date of access: 2021, January 2), <u>https://www.onupkeep.com/answers/fleet-management/preventive-maintenance-checklists-for-trucks-and-fleets</u>

Raychaudhuri, S. (2008, December). Introduction to monte carlo simulation. In 2008 Winter simulation conference (pp. 91-100). IEEE

Saltoğlu, R., Humaira, N., & İnalhan, G. (2016). Aircraft scheduled airframe maintenance and downtime integrated cost model. Advances in operations research, vol. 2016, Article ID 2576825, 12pages, https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2576825

Sava, V., Tureatca, M. V., Manra, B. L. (2018), Risk in Contemporary Economy ISSN-L 2067-0532 ISSN online 2344-5386 XIXth Edition, Galati, Romania, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.26397/RCE2067053218</u>

Schuh, G., Scholz, P., & Seichter, S. (2020, October). Identification of Indicators for the Assessment of Technological Risks within Technology Selection. In 2020 61st International Scientific Conference on Information Technology and Management Science of Riga Technical University (ITMS) (pp. 1-8). IEEE, doi: 10.1109/ITMS51158.2020.9259226

Schwartz, E. (2013). The real options approach to valuation: Challenges and opportunities. Latin american journal of economics, 50(2), 163-177

Semi-Truck Engine Overhauling: What You Need to Know, (Date of Access: 2021, April 1), https://majoroverhaul.ca/semi-truck-engine-overhauling/

Shin, J. H., & Jun, H. B. (2015). On condition-based maintenance policy. Journal of Computational Design and Engineering, 2(2), 119-127, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcde.2014.12.006

Shukri, F. A. A., Jusoh, R. M., Ramlan, A., & Anuar, M. S. M. (2002). An overview of fleet maintenance and operating cost: key components and methods

Smid, J. H., Heres, L., Havelaar, A. H., & Pielaat, A. (2012). A biotracing model of Salmonella in the pork production chain. Journal of food protection, *75*(2), 270-280

Smith, A.M., 1993, Reliability-centered Maintenance, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY

Snieška, V., Navickas, V., Havierniková, K., Okręglicka, M., & Gajda, W. (2020). Technical, information and innovation risks of industry 4.0 in small and medium-sized enterprises—case of Slovakia and Poland. Journal of business economics and management, 21(5), 1269-1284

Sun, Y., Yang, Y., Huang, N., & Zou, X. (2020). The impacts of climate change risks on financial performance of mining industry: Evidence from listed companies in China. Resources Policy, 69, 101828

Tahan, M., Tsoutsanis, E., Muhammad, M., & Karim, Z. A. (2017). Performance-based health monitoring, diagnostics, and prognostics for condition-based maintenance of gas turbines: A review. Applied energy, 198, 122-144. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.04.048

Teneng, D. (2011). Limitations of the Black-Scholes model. Collection of Papers, 1, 143

TFI Inc. financial statements 2015-2019

TFI Inc. 2016. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2021, January 19) <u>https://tfiintl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/2016-Annual-Report-TFI.pdf</u>

TFI Inc. 2017. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2021, January 19) <u>https://tfiintl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/2017-Annual-Report-TFI.pdf</u>

TFI Inc. 2018. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2021, January 19) <u>https://tfiintl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/2018-Annual-Report-TFI.pdf</u>

TFI Inc. 2019. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2021, January 19) <u>https://tfiintl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/TFI-2019-AR-EN-v5-bookmarked-and-linked-optimized-FOR-WEBSITE.pdf</u>

TFI International WACC %, (Date of access: 2021, February 1), https://www.gurufocus.com/term/wacc/NYSE:TFII/WACC-Percentage/TFI%20International

TFI International, (Date of Access: 2021, January 19), https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/TFI International

The price tag for autonomous trucks still unclear, ((Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://www.fleetowner.com/technology/article/21692381/the-price-tag-for-autonomous-trucks-still-unclear

The Real Cost of Trucking -Per Mile Operating Cost of a commercial Truck, (Date of access: 2021, January 4), <u>https://www.thetruckersreport.com/infographics/cost-of-trucking/</u>

Top 8 Transportation Industry Trends in 2021, (Date of Access: 2021, March 20), https://stfalcon.com/en/blog/post/transportation-industry-trends

Trigeorgis, L., & Reuer, J. J. (2017). Real options theory in strategic management. Strategic management journal, 38(1), 42-63

Tsang, A.H.C. (1995), "Condition-based maintenance: tools and decision making", Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering, Vol. 1 No. 3, pp.3-17. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13552519510096350</u>

Vaidya, O. S. SK (2006). Analytic hierarchy process: An overview of applications. European Journal of Operational Research, 1-29

Velasquez, M., & Hester, P. T. (2013). An analysis of multi-criteria decision making methods. International journal of operations research, 10(2), 56-66

Vineyard, M., Amoako-Gyampah, K., & Meredith, J. R. (2000). An evaluation of maintenance policies for flexible manufacturing systems: a case study. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, Vol. 20 Issue: 4, pp.409-426

WestJet Annual Report (Year 2014-2018)

WestJet. 2014. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2020, February 9). https://www.annualreports.com/HostedData/AnnualReportArchive/W/TSX WJA 2014.pdf

WestJet. 2015. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2020, February 9). https://www.annualreports.com/HostedData/AnnualReportArchive/W/TSX_WJA_2015.pdf

WestJet. 2016. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2020, February 9). https://www.westjet.com/assets/wj-web/documents/en/aboutus/financialReports/WestJet2016AR.pdf

WestJet. 2017. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2020, February 9). https://www.westjet.com/assets/wj-web/documents/en/investorMedia/180329-2017-Annual-Report-accessible.pdf WestJet. 2018. Annual Report. (Date of access: 2020, February 9). https://www.westjet.com/assets/wj-web/documents/en/investorMedia/WestJet-2018-Annual-Report.pdf

WestJet. About us (Date of access: 2020, February 9). <u>https://www.westjet.com/en-ca/about-us/index</u>

What are your Options to Cover the Cost of Semi-Truck Repair, (Date of access: 2021, February 1), https://missionfinancialservices.net/what-are-your-options-to-cover-the-cost-of-semi-truck-repair/

Wisdom, W. L., & Gibson, R. B. (1992, January 1). Effective Maintenance Management in Production Operations. Society of Petroleum Engineers. doi:10.2118/24075-MS

Yarong, L., & Minpeng, C. (2021). Farmers' perception on combined climatic and market risks and their adaptive behaviors: a case in Shandong Province of China. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 1-20

Yu, O. (2008). Application of real options analysis to technology portfolio planning: a case study. International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management

Zavadskas, E. K., & Turskis, Z. (2011). Multiple criteria decision making (MCDM) methods in economics: an overview. Technological and economic development of economy, 17(2), 397-427

Zhou, P., & Yin, P. T. (2019). An opportunistic condition-based maintenance strategy for offshore wind farm based on predictive analytics. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 109, 1-9. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.03.049</u>